


  March 19, 2007  

HOMELAND DEFENSE/ 
NEIGHBORHOOD IMPROVEMENT 
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         3-19-07 – 6:00 P.M.  
         CITY OF MIAMI 
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_____________________________________________________________________________________________  
The meeting was called to order at 6:16 p.m., with the following members found to be  
 
Present:  Rolando Aedo 
   Eileen Broton 

Ramon De La Cabada 
Mariano Cruz 
Robert A. Flanders (Chairman) 
Laurinus Pierre 
Gary Reshefsky 
Jose Solares 
Hattie Willis 

    
    
Absent:   Luis Cabrera 

Luis De Rosa 
  David Kubiliun 
  Jami Reyes 
  Manolo Reyes (Vice Chairman) 
   
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mary Conway, Chief of Operations 

Larry Spring, Chief Financial Officer 
Rafael O. Diaz, Deputy City Attorney 

   Pilar Saenz, CIP Department  
   Danette Perez, CIP Department  

Zimri Prendes, CIP Department 
   Joyce A. Jones, City Clerk’s Office 
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I. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF JANUARY 23, 
2007 AND FEBRUARY 27, 2007. 

 
HD/NIB MOTION 07-04 
 
A MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF JANUARY 23, 
2007. 
 
MOVED:  M. Cruz 
SECONDED:  R. Aedo 
ABSENT: L. Cabrera, L. De Rosa, D. Kubiliun, J. Reyes, M. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present. 
 
Gary Reshefsky noted that Updates 1, 2, and 9 referenced future discussions to take place 
at the next board meeting, which have not taken place.  He requested that these 
discussions occur at the next board meeting. 
 
 
HD/NIB MOTION 07-05 
 
A MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF FEBRUARY 27, 
2007. 
 
MOVED:  R. De La Cabada 
SECONDED:  R. Aedo 
ABSENT: L. Cabrera, L. De Rosa, D. Kubiliun, J. Reyes, M. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present. 
 
 

II. OLD BUSINESS: 
 

• Briefing on Homeland Defense Neighborhood Improvement Program. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  All of that being said, let us move right into the Audit Subcommittee 
meeting -- minutes.  Rolando Aedo will take that away.  Thank you. 
 
Rolando Aedo:  Thank you, Bob, and what I propose we do -- and obviously, the Board 
can suggest otherwise, is -- there was -- I want to make sure there’s a couple of key 
documents in front of everyone, and it -- Excuse me.  Back to Bob. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  If the Clerk will note that Mr. Pierre has arrived.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  So, as I said, I’m going to assume, for the sake of this discussion, many of 
the Board members were at the Audit Subcommittee last week Thursday, but for those 
that weren’t, you should have received a significant package of information, and we’re 
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not going to go through it all bit by bit; that’s what the Audit Subcommittee is set up to 
do, but there were 11 questions that were posed by the Audit Subcommittee in prior 
meetings that were responded to at the last meeting on Thursday, and I want to quickly 
go through those questions and the responses, and then really spend the bulk of our 
discussion, or our time today focusing on the reallocation of funds, which is going to 
have to be necessary for a variety of reasons, including some overruns, some scope 
changes, and so forth, so with that in mind, let me -- can I confirm that everyone has the 
11 points for discussion?  Everyone has that? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Yes, and if I may interrupt yet once again -- sorry, Rolando.  
Madam Clerk, if you will note, for the record, that Gary Reshefsky is now present.  Thank 
you. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Many of these questions and issues have very, very quick responses.  Some 
of them required a little bit more amount of detail, which was provided in detail at the 
Audit Subcommittee, and there are some issues that will still be pending a further 
response from the staff at the -- at additional meetings, but as I said earlier, I think that 
this Board would be best served during this time tonight to look at what is arguably the 
most critical situation, which is the reallocation of funds to cover everything from scope 
changes, to material costs, and other issues, and moving forward, especially with the 
second series of bonds being issued shortly, so with that said, I will go through these.  
One of the issues identified was the need for better assignment of staff to respond to the 
Board’s questions and concerns, and the response has been that Mary Conway, the 
COO of the City, will be staffing the meetings, at least, in the immediate future, and I 
guess, depending on how the meetings evolve, she will stay on as long as -- at our 
pleasure.  There’s obviously a lot of other capable staff available, including Gary and 
others, but we do appreciate the fact that Mary will be making herself available to this 
Board and to the subcommittee moving forward.  Thank you, Mary.  We appreciate that. 
 
Mary Conway:  Certainly. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  The second point was, you know, we had requested a copy of the scope and 
contract of the professional services agreement with HDR for program management 
services, and that was provided.  It’s quite an extensive document, which we will all be 
going through in some detail, and it’ll probably take us all -- a little bit of time to go 
through that, but it was provided, as requested.  Might take away -- and I’m going to 
defer to some of my other board members, and as well as to Gary, as the cochair of the 
subcommittee.  Overall, it seems to be a very usual and standard practice in this -- in 
these types of programs.  We are going to be looking through the document in detail, but 
it will take us some time, but I imagine that we will have some future conversations and 
questions at additional subcommittee meetings in the future.  Gary, was there anything 
specific --?  I know you just arrived, but what we’re hoping to do is go through the basic 
questions and the responses, and then spend the bulk of the time focused on the 
reallocation due to the scope changes and the shortfalls -- 
 
Gary Reshefsky:  Absolutely. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  -- so I’m just going to quickly identify the point and identify the staff response. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  OK. 
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Chairman Flanders:  May I interrupt -- 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Of course. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  -- yet once again?  Madam Clerk, if you will note that Ramon De La 
Cabada has arrived.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Point 3 was -- 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Hey, Rolando. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Sure, Gary. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Just going back to number 1, in addition to Mary, I think we ought to 
note -- and if you didn’t do it already -- I walked in late -- that the City CFO, Larry Spring, 
is here tonight, and joined us at our Audit Subcommittee meeting for about two hours, 
which was really helpful, and his comments were insightful, and certainly, we would have 
liked to have had him here in the past, and he’s been very gracious to come tonight and 
anytime that we have any questions on some of the financial side of things, including the 
City’s plans with selling the second series bonds and considerations that they make in 
that process, as well as the considerations they made in the past, and also, you should 
note that before Larry was a City employee, he was a member of this board when we got 
started very early on, so he also has an insight into what we’re trying to do here. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Thank you, Gary.  Point 3 was the members had requested an explanation of 
the JOC administration program, and there was a significant discussion in terms of what 
JOC is and that 1.5 percent fee, and the evolution of Gordian Group, which, in essence, 
has a monopoly on this business, and at least, it was explained to my satisfaction.  It’s a 
pretty standard practice in this business.  The next point was we were asking why -- we 
were asking for an explanation of why the City has to use JOC.  My takeaway and our 
takeaway was the City does not have to use JOC.  JOC is one of probably four tools that 
the City uses; JOC, design-build, the regular bid process, and there’s in-house 
resources, so that question was answered to my satisfaction.  What will be part of the 
follow-up to the discussion was, you know, in what time -- in what instances or what 
percentages is the City using JOC versus design-build versus, you know, the bidding 
process.  What did come out from that discussion, as well, is that the City seems to be 
leaning or shifting more of its efforts towards less of JOC and more of the bidding 
process, and that is as a result of a variety of factors; the nature of the work, the time 
allowed for some of the work, and so forth.  Hopefully, I’m capturing the essence of that. 
 
Ms. Conway:  You are, and I just wanted to add, the sheet that just got handed out to 
you is something that we discussed last Thursday.  These are just a few representative 
sheets out of the JOC book itself to give you an idea of how items of work get priced, 
and this is just a representative sample that we discussed, and we are in the process of 
putting together the other information regarding the different types of contract delivery 
methods and the numbers and dollar amounts of jobs that we’ve done with each to date. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Thank you.  Point 6 was members wanted to know if the Little Haiti Park 
cultural and soccer projects are on time and within budget, or were there any cost 
overruns.  There were contracts that were provided.  Mary, was there -- were you 
prepared to speak to that in addition? 
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Ms. Conway:  We passed over item 5. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Right. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Did you want to go back to that one or --? 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Oh, I’m sorry. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’s OK. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Yes.  Item 5.  That’s what Bob was putting in front of me.  Thank you, Bob.  
There was a request for a list of the no-bid contracts under the bond program, and I’m 
going to quickly go through them now.  They do represent about -- originally, they 
represented 40 to $50 million of projects, which currently stand at about $80 million.  Of 
those, it includes the Little Haiti Park Cultural Campus and -- which the names of the 
firms are Zyscovich and Pirtle Construction, and then the Little Haiti Park recreation 
component, and that’s RDC, Recreational Design & Construction, and then there is the 
Jose Marti Gym, which has both Zyscovich and Pirtle working under that, and then 
there’s the Grapeland Park.  What the committee and myself observed, obviously, was 
that this was a significant number in terms of dollars for these projects, but there was 
some synergies because of the fact that many of these vendors had experience in these 
areas. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  The firm of Zyscovich had the inside track on the design services 
because they had actually conducted the -- and I may turn to Hattie Willis and ask for 
her backup here -- they had actually conducted, for the City, the charrettes and the 
series of public meetings that were held to ascertain what the communities wants, 
needs, and desires were, so Zyscovich had a working knowledge from the get-go on this 
particular project and did not have to ramp up or be brought up-to-speed on our dime.  
They already were there. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  And then I believe Pirtle had a pretty intimate working relationship with 
Zyscovich, so there were some synergies there, as well, and then, lastly, RDC had a 
proven track record in developing water parks. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Right.  Actually, I think they had just completed a water park in 
Broward County. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’s correct.  That would be C. B. Smith and Pembroke Pines for 
Broward County. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  But on this point, there was significant discussion because the original 
budgets were in the 40 to $50 million range and currently stand at or about $80 million, if 
the numbers are current, and that is something that was significantly discussed at the 
subcommittee level, and Mary, is there kind of a snippet that you can tell us as to, you 
know, in essence, almost the doubling of the value of these combined projects? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Sure.  I’ll give you a few representative examples.  We discussed 
Grapeland Park before and the fact that Grapeland Park required in excess of $9 million 
of contamination remediation associated with ash material and other contaminants in the 
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soil.  At Jose Marti Park, the primary reasons for the cost differential there, in addition to 
other things that we’ve talked about on projects across-the-board, which is just market 
escalation from 2001 to present, is also the fact that we had some major underground 
utility lines, and rather than being able to vacate a portion of street that we thought we 
would be able to do at grade, we actually have a major FPL duct bank and had to 
develop a two-story gymnasium structure to fit it into the limited land area constraints at 
Jose Marti Park east of the I-95 right-of-way, so right now, where Finnegan’s is open, 
that’s the area where the gym will be located.  On the Little Haiti Park, issues associated 
with land acquisition, assembling the land, being able to do friendly acquisitions versus 
eminent domain, and the cost there, as well as site conditions -- we had some 
unforeseen conditions associated with the demolition of the trailer park and some of the 
septic tanks and other things that we had discussed previously, so all of those factors, in 
conjunction with not -- having budget estimates initially, as opposed to very detailed 
scopes and cost estimates, and also the significant market changes we’ve seen over a 
six-year period, all of those things together attribute to the cost changes. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Just to summarize the last few items, the Board should know that we 
probably didn’t spend as much time at the Audit Subcommittee on each of these items 
as we would have liked.  We -- I don’t want to say that we’re finished going over each of 
these items tonight.  I mean, I think what we’re going to do is spend another Audit 
Subcommittee or two going through some of the items, like this particular item that we 
really -- maybe didn’t spend as much time digging into each of these line items as we 
would have liked to have done just because our list is so long, and we plan to do that 
within the next, I think, month. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  And that’s what I said is that what we did -- and we spent about two and a 
half hours or so talking about these things, and the way we concluded the meeting was 
knowing that we did need to get together.  The next item was the members wanted to 
know if the Little Haiti Park cultural and soccer projects are on time and within budget, 
and if there were any cost overruns.  I am going to throw this back to Mary because I 
know we did discuss this, but I want to make sure it comes across correctly.  Mary, we 
do have a sheet here that tells us when the construction that was started.  In the case of 
Little Haiti cultural campus, that was on January 8, 2007.  The construction is scheduled 
to be completed by May 2008, and I guess final permits were just issued this past 
February. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Correct. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  If I can jump in here just a second.  Mary suggested, actually, last 
Wednesday I drive by the project sites.  I could tell you that they are both well underway; 
that the sites have been cleared, and they’ve actually started construction.  There is 
concrete progress in both places. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Now, Mary, this question about any -- are there any cost overruns -- and it’s 
kind of a universal question on many of these projects.  If we were to define this as how 
much was allocated from the bond, in terms of what these projects will end up costing, is 
there a simple answer as to whether there are cost overruns, or how would those be 
categorized? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Specifically -- and what we’ll do for the follow-up Audit Subcommittee 
meeting, like Gary had just mentioned, is we’ll be prepared for the Little Haiti Park 
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projects.  You have the contracts here, and you have the current schedule dates, but 
we’ll be prepared to go through with you in detail what the original contract amount was, 
what any change orders have been to the contract.  Now, in the case of Little Haiti 
soccer, we’ve been before you previously, and we’ve talked about change orders 
associated with the removal of the septic tanks and the underground utilities; changes 
associated with some illegal dumping and tires and things that were on the site; changes 
associated with ADA compliance when we were unsuccessful getting an ADA waiver for 
the stadium and had to then put in a canopy that extends over the full bleachers, as well 
as put in a lift to the viewing area for the referees, so there are a series of things like that 
that have resulted in change orders for the Little Haiti soccer project, all with very well-
defined substantiated reasons behind them, and what we’ll do at the next Audit 
Subcommittee is run through those and have a spreadsheet and a table put together so 
that you can see original contract amount and any change orders that were required, 
and on the issue of change orders, in general, I’m not aware of a single construction 
project that, from its inception, goes all the way through to completion and doesn’t have 
something that arises that results in a change.  In the case of the Little Haiti cultural 
project -- with Little Haiti soccer.  Little Haiti soccer was done as a design-build project, 
and it was done that way deliberately so that as elements of the design were completed, 
construction could begin.  For instance, as we were able to have the design of the fields 
and the lighting completed, we were able to start on that while we were still working on 
completing the design and the permitting for the building structures that had a longer 
lead time.  In the case of Little Haiti cultural, those plans were taken to completion 
through permitting, and only then did we have a fully negotiated guaranteed maximum 
price with Pirtle Construction, so in the case of Little Haiti cultural, there have not been 
any change orders to date.  I would be hopeful that, as we get through that construction, 
there won’t be unless something significant happens, if we have a storm or some event 
that is unknown.  We’ll summarize the change orders for the soccer field when we get 
together at the next Audit Subcommittee. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Mary, the document that all the board members have, in this document, there 
is a section that deals with both of these projects.  It does show there that there was a 
shortfall of 1.1 million on the Little Haiti Park cultural campus. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes, and that is based -- and we actually didn’t get to have that 
conversation while Gary was still at the Audit Subcommittee.  We knew when we 
brought the final guaranteed maximum price contract for Pirtle Construction before the 
Commission that we had a funding gap, and we allowed it to move forward -- and Larry 
can chime in on this when he steps back in -- with an understanding that those funds 
would have to come from another source, so while you see that on the spreadsheet 
where we’re going to go over the reallocations in detail, that’s not something new.  
That’s not on top of the contract that’s already been approved by Commission; it’s a part 
of it. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  OK. 
 
Hattie Willis:  Mary, my question to you is on -- I see that you gave us this page for the 
construction, and it says the soccer park.  My question to you on the soccer park, is the 
building included in this, the rec. building? 
 
Ms. Conway:  The recreation building is a part of the contract, but we’re still having 
discussions about whether it will proceed as designed at the smaller square footage, or 
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whether there’s still an opportunity, if any, to try to get additional funds to have a larger 
facility.  At this point, that’s still a pending issue to be resolved.  What’s included in this 
contract is the smaller building that you’ve seen before, the plans. 
 
Ms. Willis:  Which smaller building because the building increased in size? 
 
Ms. Conway:  I think we had about a 1,200 -- and I apologize because this is off memory 
-- square foot community building.  We had a NET office that was in a separate building, 
and then we had the restrooms, and then a portico around the entire site that connected 
to the parking area, and then to the soccer fields. 
 
Ms. Willis:  OK, so it went back -- it went -- scaled down? 
 
Ms. Conway:  We never changed from that because of the issue of additional revenues.  
There was some discussion about having a larger gymnasium, larger sized community 
building, and this all goes back to when we had to demolish the existing church property 
after we finally took possession, and it was so deteriorated.  Initially, the plan was to 
rehabilitate that existing building that had a much larger square footage.  Once that was 
no longer an option and we had to demolish that larger building, the cost to do the 
rehabilitation versus the cost to demolish and build a new structure, we had to down 
scale the building -- the new building design to keep the project within the budget, so the 
original square footage of the existing building that was going to be rehabbed was larger 
than the current design plans for what we can build within the remaining existing budget. 
 
Ms. Willis:  OK, when we had the town hall meeting, and the new manager was there, it 
was said -- it wasn’t a discussion that the building was going to be 44,000 square feet.  It 
was -- I mean, 4,400.  It wasn’t a discussion.  It was said that it was going to be 
increased in size, so I guess we need to go back to the -- find the information on that.  I’d 
like for you to research that because that was said in stone. 
 
Ms. Conway:  I was at that meeting, and it’s really an issue of resources, and that’s why I 
said that -- that’s why you don’t see construction of that building underway right now 
because we have not been successful to date in identifying additional monies to be able 
to build a larger building, so that’s still something that is pending.  Everything else in the 
soccer park is under construction, except that building. 
 
Ms. Willis:  OK. 
 
Jose Solares:  When you said that the rehabilitation of the church building -- was that 
part of the original design, or was something an idea that somebody had? 
 
Ms. Conway:  No.  There were plans that were developed for the rehabilitation of the 
church.  If we had somebody here from Asset Management, they could explain in better 
detail than I can, but from the time that the City began trying to acquire the church site 
until we finally got through the eminent domain process and were able -- we had a lot of 
difficulties from the property owner being able to get access to the building and being 
able, even once we had final payment, to get things moved out and to take possession 
of the building, so there was quite an extended period while we were in the process of 
acquiring the church building that -- for instance, after the storms from a year and a half 
ago, the tower that was part of the church building, the pastor allowed the roof to cave 
in.  There was nothing done to protect it.  Water intrusion occurred on the building, so 
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the original intent, three years ago, was to take that existing structure, do rehab of it.  
Unfortunately, by the time we finally completed the acquisition and took possession of 
the property that was no longer an option, and it was deemed an unsafe structure and 
had to be demolished. 
 
Mr. Solares:  OK.  The reason I ask that question is, on the meeting the other day, 
somebody questioned about Roberto Clemente Park, and it appears there is now two 
parks that are -- I hear.  I was not involved in it, and it’s the same thing.  Somebody 
thought they were going to do something, and then they couldn’t do it because for some 
design issues on it.  Who’s accountable for what is what I think I’m going to do to what is 
what I’m going to do?  Nobody’s accountable on it?   
 
Ms. Conway:  I think we’re all accountable.  I don’t think there’s anything that we could 
have done to have controlled the court process, the eminent domain land acquisition 
process, when the City was actually able to gain access to the property and to take 
physical control of the property once we had already initiated that land acquisition 
process. 
 
Mr. Solares:  I accept that one.  How about Roberto Clemente Park?  I think that Roberto 
Clemente Park was not an issue similar to the church.   
 
Ms. Conway:  The issue is similar, but different.  At Clemente, there were several holes 
that were done in the ceiling so that the engineer could get access and to see the level 
of deterioration or the structural condition of the truss system and the roof system.  
Unfortunately, when the contractor actually -- when the plans were completed, the plans 
were permitted.  The contractor actually got on site and started removing the entire 
ceiling system and expose the entire truss system.  The damage was much, much more 
extensive than what was observed when several of the holes were done.  The same 
thing took place when the interior drywall was removed; that the deterioration on the roof 
structure, on the beams, as well as the column supports, the wood deterioration from 
termite damage was much more severe than what was determined when test holes were 
done to see the condition of the structure. 
 
Mr. Solares:  I’m not addressing it to you saying it’s your accountability, but it seems to 
me that professional architect or engineer has to take responsibility of it.   
 
Mr. Aedo:  Mary, on the issue of Roberto Clemente, which is actually Point 9 on the 
document, what’s being asked is is there any liability on the person that’s actually 
conducting the inspection itself? 
 
Ms. Conway:  I think we need to go back and look at that in more detail, in conjunction 
with some other pending projects where we may have issues of design errors and 
omissions, and we need to look at it in more detail so that we can ascertain whether the 
initial investigation work that was done was reasonable, and whether, based on what 
was reasonably done, you could have anticipated the level of deterioration.  Based on 
the feedback that I’ve gotten from staff, I do think that the level of effort that was done 
was reasonable, without demolishing the entire roof structure.  I think it’s unfortunate that 
this building was just much more deteriorated than anybody could have reasonably 
anticipated, but we will go back and take a look at it again to verify that so that we can 
respond to the Board. 
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Chairman Flanders:  Let us put this to bed by asking a question.  Now that we know 
what we know, going forward, what safeguards do we have from this occurring in the 
future? 
 
Ms. Conway:  One would be, when we did some of the initial invasive investigation and 
the holes, we saw damage.  We knew when we did that that we saw damage.  What we 
didn’t realize was the extent of the damage, and I think the lesson going forward to learn 
from this point forward is that once we saw a certain level of deterioration that was 
beyond what we would have anticipated for a building of that age, that we’d have to 
invest upfront more, and not just do the representative sampling, but take it to the next 
step before we finalize the plans and began the construction contract. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  So that, in light of the preventive maintenance of the past 25 years, 
then it would almost be a given that you’re walking into a nest of problems? 
 
Ms. Conway:  We’re finding that on several of the projects.  You know, we’re not finding 
it on a lot of others.  You know, we’re doing renovations and remodeling to a lot of 
buildings that have held up and have weathered the years very well, but we are finding 
on others, with termite damage in particular, that old problems were not addressed and 
they caused much further structural deterioration than we would have originally 
anticipated. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  One final question:  Does the City have a good termite 
inspector/preventative measure in place because, going forward, we’re always going to 
have termites. 
 
Ms. Conway:  From an operation standpoint, we’re addressing that across-the-board 
with inspections and with preventative maintenance on all of our buildings. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK. 
 
Ms. Willis:  One of the things that I see that’s very, very wrong with the whole situation 
across-the-board, and that’s every project, is when we start these projects, we know 
from design, to the thought process, to the actual building of the project, that the money 
is going to increase because the cost of everything is going to go up, so who is the 
watchdog on these properties to make sure that, by the time whoever’s project gets the 
time to build actually goes through the phase just like Little Haiti Park project, that 
somebody is watching that what we started out with the money is not enough to do this 
project? 
 
Ms. Conway:  The Capital Improvements Department staff are responsible for that, and 
the Capital Improvements office staff do update the costs on a regular basis as the plans 
are developed, and basically, once we get to a final plan completion level for any of 
these projects, if we’re within budget, we’re fine.  If the final priced construction cost of 
the project exceeds the remaining available budget, we go through an exercise of seeing 
whether we can value engineer the project and remove elements -- but clearly, keeping 
the intent of the project, but to keep it within budget.  We went through that exercise a 
year and a half ago, and there were a lot of projects that never came back before the 
Board because we were able to value engineer and keep the projects in the budget.  
There were many projects that, when they were priced, remained within the originally 
established budget, and then there were other projects, some of which you’ll see when 
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we go through the detailed list, where we were not able to keep the intent of the original 
project and be able to construct it within the originally defined budget for the project, and 
those are the ones where we have to look for -- either we have to look for alternate 
revenue sources to complement what we already have to be able to complete the project 
or discuss whether the project merits moving forward, and the thing that we’re hopefully 
going to spend most of the time this evening talking about is the proposed reallocations 
to be able to finish all of the projects that were started. 
 
Ms. Willis:  So you’re thinking that the process that they have now, it works?  Because it 
just seems like it’s not OK. 
 
Ms. Conway:  The only comment that I’ll make there is some of what we discussed at 
the beginning of the Audit Subcommittee -- and Bob, I’ll defer to you to weigh in on this 
as well.  When the City put together the Homeland Defense/Neighborhood Improvement 
Bond, I think it was a significant positive effort, but it was a bond plan that was 
developed in a four- or five-week period.  The time that was allowed to come up with the 
projects and the types of projects, there were cost allocations, or budget allocations 
made to those projects.  What we found, over time, for all the various reasons that we 
discussed earlier today, as well as in previous meetings, is that once we had more 
defined scopes of work, cost estimates, market fluctuations, unforeseen conditions, that 
those budget estimates for some of the projects, they were reasonable, and we were 
able to complete the projects within those budgets.  For some of them, we actually had 
surplus monies, and we’ll talk about that later, but for many of the projects, they required 
additional funds to be able to complete them.  What we’re doing for upcoming future City 
bond allocations is more upfront detailed work regarding scopes of work, cost estimates, 
having plans designed with other revenue sources so that they’re fully priced and ready 
to go, and right now -- and Larry Spring can talk about this later when we talk about the 
financing and the future steps with the bond, but right now we’re looking at additional 
bond issuances, not just to complete Homeland Defense/Neighborhood Improvement 
projects, but also to begin extensive street improvement projects throughout the City.  
For the majority of the projects that will be funded through the first series of that bond, 
we already have the plans on the shelf ready to go, so we have done a significant 
amount of upfront work over the last two years.  We have -- not only do we have detailed 
scopes and project cost estimates, but we actually have design plans that are completed 
and ready to go.  I think what you’re seeing here is transitioning from what was done 
initially with this bond to learning lessons over the last several years so that we’re better 
positioned moving forward.  
 
Mr. Aedo:  I don’t want Ms. Willis to feel like she’s alone in her comment, if I understood 
it correctly, but I think that the Administration needs to do a better job of utilizing our 
Board as a resource in some of these decisions whether projects go forward or not, and 
I think we talked about that at our audit meeting, and I hope that happens more in the 
future in terms of whether projects should be scrapped or downsized, or even started.  I 
also think that what concerns me and what we’re going to try to get to the bottom of are 
projects that were scrapped where we’ve spent money on them already for design, and 
third, projects where we are going to maybe sell some bonds for the construction money 
because we’ve already spent money on the design.  I think that was a fatal flaw that 
began here about a year ago.  I think Mary mentioned something about, in the future, 
we’re going to price the projects so that we have them ready for when we get the money, 
but I think that’s a distinction, if I’m correct, from what she said a year ago of design 
them and then we’ll get the construction money, and then the last point I want to make is 
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I think we need to stop talking about 2002, about what we did in 2002, where we threw 
money at each project because I don’t think that is the cause of where we are today.  I 
think a lot of the projects that we’re seeing that are over budget are over budget because 
they were scoped out after the fact for design, and then things escalated, so I think we 
need to talk about more recent problems and cost overruns, not 2002. 
 
Ramon De La Cabada:  You know, basically, the City was not ready to deal with all this 
good fortune that came from the bond, or maybe didn’t have the proper infrastructure to 
properly assess and budget out projects.  I guess the question that I have is, do we have 
the proper infrastructure now, when you’re talking about issuing new bonds and 
everything else so that we properly budget things?  How are things going to be different 
this time around? 
 
Ms. Conway:  As far as our preparedness now versus before, one of the items that we 
talked about on number 2 and why are we using program management services at all.  
That’s a part of the reason.  A part of the reason is to be able to have additional staff 
resources so that we can address the projects more thoroughly on the shorter time 
frames that are before us.  That is one of the pivotal areas.  Another thing is we actually 
have one or two people who are dedicated full-time to review of plans, to preparing cost 
estimates and take-offs on plans, so that’s something that, through the program 
management contract, we’ve been able to add some of the technical expert services that 
we didn’t necessarily have previously so that, going forward, we’ll be better positioned.  
We’ve also implemented -- we didn’t have an automated database for how we tracked 
projects, schedules, cost estimates five years ago.  All of the finances for all of the 
capital projects were tracked manually on spreadsheets.  We implemented, three years 
ago, a comprehensive electronic database, which is actually the database that 
generates all of the financial information and the reports that you’ll see in the City’s 
capital plan, and that database also has project schedule dates for project milestones, 
so we have a lot of tools and things in place now that we didn’t have three and four 
years ago that we’ve put into place so that we can mirror best practices for the delivery 
of a capital program and engineering projects. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  There was a point, which is Point 7, which the Board had requested how 
they’re going to account for the incremental maintenance and operations that would be 
necessary for all the capital improvement programs, and we were presented with the 
Capital Improvement Program 2005/2006, which includes a section called “Operating 
Impact,” which, I’m assuming, uses best practices in determining the incremental 
percentages of funding required for the maintenance and operation of these additional 
projects.  That was one point that was made at the meeting.  The other one was that the 
project analysis form has been further modified to specifically identify the -- over a five-
year period of time, the operating costs associated with the project, so those were two 
points that were in response to that question.  The other question -- and then I think 
we’re going to jump into the reallocation -- was there was significant concern by not only 
us, as board members, but by residents, about the closing of multiple parks within the 
same district, and the question was posed, who ultimately makes that decision, and is 
the Commissioner fully aware of the impact of those decisions, and the response back 
was that the, yes, the Commissioner is fully aware of when that happens, and I guess, 
ultimately, if his constituents have a concern about that, then they should approach their 
Commissioner’s office. 
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Ms. Conway:  And I’d just like to add also, when we were talking about preparedness, in 
a particular instance, in District 1, with Grapeland Park and Fern Isle, both of those 
projects were funded with the first series bond proceeds, so there was a desire to get 
them designed and implemented with those first series dollars, and while it was and has 
been very inconvenient for the local residents to not have those facilities available 
because they’re both in construction at the same time, going forward, without having the 
pressure of having the money in hand and having two projects in the same 
neighborhood impacted, we certainly intent to try to minimize impacts, and we have 
done that to a certain extent with the pool projects that we’ve been doing around the City 
that are also funded through the bond. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Mary, to the point earlier, moving forward, is it fair to say that the City staff 
and the Commissioners are taking concerted efforts to not bring major amenities and 
parks offline?  Are there going to be more instances of when major assets within one 
district will be offline? 
 
Ms. Conway:  I think the answer, at least, as the plan exists today, is no.  What we have 
been doing, though, is we’re not beginning construction until right after the summer 
session ends and school starts because the summer session is when we see the highest 
usage in most of the pools, so we are trying to do that advanced planning. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  And then the final point, before we get into the allocation, was that the 
members had requested a pretty specific breakdown of all the projects in terms of how 
they relate to true homeland defense projects, the police training, the fire stations versus 
parks programs, for example.  We do know -- we all did know going in that half of these 
projects were, in essence, going to be non-homeland defense related, but I do think that, 
based on the reallocations that we’re about to hear about in just a few moments, those 
percentages may have shifted somewhat significantly, so I want to use it as a segue -- 
and Mary, will you encourage us to follow you on this document?  Is that what I’m 
anticipating? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  What I’d like to do is invite Pilar Saenz, our assistant Capital 
Improvements director to come up and just run you through one or two of the line items 
so that, if you didn’t get a chance to look at the e-mail and her little tutorial about how to 
read the spreadsheet, we can do that quickly, and then the way that we set up this 
spreadsheet is -- and again, this was at the request of the Audit Subcommittee 
members, I think, was a great idea.  Any project that is recommended to reallocate 
monies to cover a funding need on another project is highlighted in the pink, and those 
are the ones that I’d like to be able to go through and then explain where the -- which 
projects are receiving monies, why they were deemed a priority, some of the rationale 
that we used when we went through and made the recommendations. 
 
Pilar Saenz:  What I’d like to do is take you through a little understanding of the sheet, 
especially for the benefit of the members who were not present on Thursday evening.  
I’m going to run you through a project that has an additional funding demand, and then a 
project where we are taking the dollars available from second series and reallocating 
them.  What all the pink items do is create that pool of funding that gets reallocated to 
the shortfall items. 
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Mr. Aedo:  These recommendations, have they -- are they recommendations that need 
to be approved by Commission, and prior to even getting to that point, I would imagine 
they’re being vetted out by department heads, police chiefs, fire chiefs, et cetera. 
 
Ms. Conway:  All of the recommendations have already been discussed internally at a 
staff level with the various client departments and with the City Manager.  All of these 
recommend -- these two spreadsheets that basically show all the recommended 
reallocations, along with the capital plan and the streets bond, have been distributed to 
all of the district Commissioners, and we’re in the process of setting up and performing 
the briefings of the Commissioners of this, which will be part of the capital plan that will 
be discussed at the April 12 Commission meeting, so that we have an opportunity to go 
through and have the detailed discussion, and then, as is typical when the capital plan is 
presented -- because, obviously, this is a significant document -- any changes that are 
desired to what’s recommended in the plan are typically stated on the record during the 
discussion of the capital plan, and then those adjustments are made subsequently, but 
the information is in the hands of everyone, and we’re in the process of getting feedback.  
We did one Commissioner briefing today; we have three tomorrow, and I think we’re set 
for the Mayor and one of the last Commissioners next -- I think, on Wednesday. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Thank you. 
 
Eileen Broton:  I understand that.  I'm just wondering if, since we had done the initial 
recommendations for approval, that we shouldn’t have seen it first before it would be 
recommended to the Commissioners, et cetera. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’s why we’re here.  You are seeing it first. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  It’s not going to the Commission until April?  Is that what you said? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Till April 12. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  So are you looking -- is your suggestion that you’re looking to the Board 
to vote as an advisory board on each of these allocations? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Well, I guess what we’re looking for or what we’d like to do is be able to 
run through and just, at least, initially -- we’re happy to stay here and go through item by 
item by item tonight, but what we’re looking to do is not on a project by project level 
because you’ll see, when we get into this, you can’t do it that way.  In some areas, it’s 
relatively simple to say that we’re recommending shifting money from police 
preparedness initiatives to the police training facility.  In other areas, it’s not that simple 
to be able to make that type of a correlation, which is why we’ve given you this report in 
two different formats.  The first format that you were just looking at mirrors how you’ve 
been used to seeing the project report on your monthly Bond Oversight Board 
information.  The second report, what we did was a sort by district so that you could, as 
well as the district Commissioners, could see the representative allocations within a 
district, so that while monies may have shifted around within a regional area of the City, 
that the approximate total remained pretty much the same, maybe a slight decrease, but 
where we had slight decreases, we had other revenue sources separate from the bond 
that came in, and in some instances, we saw some slight increases, but you could see 
that we made our best effort to try to, at least, geographically, keep things in relatively 
the same area that they were, so rather than asking you to, you know, give us an 
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advisory approval line by line by line, what we’d like to do is get any specific comments 
or feedback you may have regarding the reallocations and the merits and any feedback 
you have so that when we sit down with the Commissioners and the briefing -- I mean, 
ideally, if the Board was prepared to -- and I wouldn’t expect you to be able to this 
evening -- it’s a lot of information, but we would love to be able to have an advisory 
recommendation of the reallocation plan.  Right now it’s an issue of timing.  The 
information was distributed to the Bond Oversight Board members in the Audit 
Subcommittee virtually at the same time that it was distributed to the elected officials, 
and then the Audit Subcommittee, and tonight’s meeting, and what I’m anticipating will 
be another Audit Subcommittee, if that’s the will of the Board, will occur before the April 
12 Commission meeting. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  I wonder if the Chair -- that I might entertain a motion that we have 
a form which actually tracks reallocation.  We’re supposed to see where every dollar 
goes.  I don’t have a quarrel myself, personally, with any of the reallocations, but I do 
have a problem with not having a record of what the original intent was, where the 
money was supposed to go, how we’re reallocating it because somebody may come 
back to us and say, why did you take our money away from us, or in other words, you 
want a paper trail, and I would be happy to entertain a motion from somebody that we 
create a form, just as we’ve done the tracking form where the City staff, CIP, actually 
makes a recommendation; it comes before us, and we actually act on it. 
 
Ms. Willis:  I want to add something to that, Bob.  I have a problem.  Bob said he didn’t, 
but I do because, see, my problem is I'm going to raise a flag.  The first question that 
want to get back to my Commissioners and everybody on this committee is you moved 
the money -- when you move it -- just like you moved it in the police area, is it going to 
be moved back in my district?  Is it going to be moved back in your district?  Because if 
you’re going to take money from one of my projects and move it into somebody else’s 
district, I got a problem with that because my district is the one that has the least amount 
of things being built on a continuous basis.  Now that’s unfair, and if it’s going in 
somebody else’s district, I think it would be unfair to move their money somewhere else 
without them knowing what you’re doing.  The second thing to that is is like Bob says.  
We need to be aware of what you’re moving, when you’re moving it, and before you 
move it, so that we can say to our Commissioner that we have a problem with that 
because we do have to go back to our constituents and our community and say to the 
people in our neighborhood associations that we agreed to whatever it is that you’re 
saying. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  I don’t want to gang up on Mary, but I would like to correct one 
thing that you said.  I don’t know if you were here, but a question was asked about 
District 5.  District 5 actually has more projects in work than any other district, with Little 
Haiti Park and everything else.  On the other hand, it was systemically starved over the 
years, and we all know that. 
 
Mr. Solares:  I’m not even talking about specifically about districts.  It seems to me 
people got committed -- in Margaret Pace Park -- I don’t know which district it’s on -- but 
I assume the residents in that area were promised to get something done in their park.  
Now all of a sudden, they’re going to reallocate $2 million out of Margaret Pace Park.  
The residents in there, they were expecting something.  And let me tell you.  I did not 
vote to take it out of there.  It seems to me that if the Commissioner wants to take it out, 
it seems to me it’s the Commissioner’s responsibility to go over there and say, hey, 
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Margaret Pace Park, you’re not getting any money, but I don’t see myself, as a member 
of the Board, saying take it away from Margaret Pace Park. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  No, no, no.  Actually, in that particular example, Margaret Pace 
Park was funded with something else, and it didn’t impact this particular bond. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Bob, I think we got to come up with some kind of mechanism to -- 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Yeah.  That’s what I’m saying. 
 
Ms. Willis:  But can Mary answer the question, though? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  I’d like to entertain somebody creating a mechanism where we can 
track this because, quite frankly, look, the practicality of this -- pragmatically speaking, 
the Mayor wants it, and the Commissioner of the district wants it, and the people want it, 
and it’s money within their district, or it’s money within a particular department, like the 
Police Department, where, you know, it makes common sense.  On the other hand, this 
Board is supposed to know, and not only that, we’re supposed to say yes or no, vote it 
up or vote it down. 
 
Ms. Willis:  I need Mary to answer my question.  Go ahead. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Which question? 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Will the money stay within the district, generally speaking?  Because you 
spoke about that at the Audit Subcommittee.  These reallocations -- talk about the 
reallocation of the money and how they will impact the districts. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  If you look at the other spreadsheet, and if I might answer the 
Chair’s question in conjunction with this.  This is the tracking mechanism.  This 
spreadsheet is the document that will show -- and it’ll be then incorporated onto the 
report that you’re used to seeing on a monthly basis, which is the last item in your packet 
that has this high level summary report, but then also is backed up by the individual 
sheets that show every expenditure on every single project within the City that is funded 
through this bond issuance.   
 
Ms. Willis:  Does the money move from district to district when you’re moving this 
money?  When you move it, do you move it inside the district? 
 
Ms. Conway:  For the most part, yes.   
 
Ms. Willis:  When you move this money from wherever you moving it from one project, 
does the money that you move stay in another project inside the district? 
 
Ms. Conway:  For the most part. 
 
Ms. Willis:  So the answer is no? 
 
Ms. Conway:  It’s not a perfect dollar for dollar. 
 
Ms. Willis:  So the answer is no?  You can move it somewhere else. 
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Ms. Conway:  We did our best effort.  The project dollar amounts -- we have to have a 
final total -- the original HD total was 255 million.  We have to have a final total of 255 
million.  Depending on what the total value is of a project that needs money versus one 
that gives up money, we couldn’t necessarily do the correlation to the penny, but if you 
look at the total summary by district, you’ll see that they’re very close. 
 
Ms. Willis:  I don’t have a problem with that.  To me, $2 million is missing, and $2 million 
in my district means a whole lot to me, and I’m sorry.  I don’t agree with that, so I’m 
going to bring that to my Commissioner.  I don’t agree with that.  You take $2 million 
from my district, to me, that’s taking thousands of dollars of food out of a kids mouth to 
me because my district is starving.  My streets are the worst.  My everything is the worst.  
I don’t agree with that, and I don’t think you should do it because now it’s only $2 million.  
Next time, it’ll turn into $10 million, so I don’t agree with that.  Who made that decision to 
do that?  Who came up with this? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Actually, if you look at parks in District 5, just the park projects that are 
within District 5, you see an increase of $2 million, and what you’re not seeing on here 
that was part of the decision-making process is we looked to fund projects with other 
revenue sources so that projects could be completed.   
 
Chairman Flanders:  So what you’re saying, Mary -- and I think that -- Hattie, if you’ll just 
bear with me a second.  This isn’t the actual accurate price of all the projects.  This is 
just what the bond has contributed towards those projects. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’s correct. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Those projects actually total much more than you see here, and I’m 
sure the other figure can be gotten so that you could see the actual full expenditure, but 
believe me, it’s beyond what you see here.  I think Larry Spring wanted to address you 
issue, as well. 
 
Larry Spring:  These funding gaps, if you will, that you’re seeing here, my office, working 
with our financial advisor and bond counsel for the Homeland Defense bond in 
preparation for the next issuance that we’re getting ready to do, is looking through the 
documents to see that there may be a possibility of issuing completion bonds.  The 
completion bonds would allow us, without going back to referendum, to fund whatever 
those shortfalls that occurred in certain projects due to the cost allocations and things 
that naturally happened in these bond issuance.  We were talking about bond issuance 
that take ten years to implement.  That language is sometimes included in the bond 
documents, so we’re researching right now to see if that is indeed the case for this 
particular issuance.  We also have other bonds that we are actually going to issue 
probably about 30 days after we do the second tranche of Homeland Defense.  The 
streets bond, which are some of these other revenue sources that Mary’s been referring 
to that will help complete some of the projects in all of the districts if they -- obviously, if 
they comply with those bond proceed parameters.  Like Mary said, it’s not a perfect 
system in doing the reallocation.  The answer to your question, yes.  Dollar for dollar, the 
answer is no, but we’re trying our best to get to a place where it is equitable to all the 
districts at the end of the day. 
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Ms. Willis:  What I hear right now is making my stomach nervous.  I’m saying, at the end 
of the day, what Bob said, I agree with him.  We need to know, and I need to know how 
often it’s going to happen.  That’s a part of what he’s asking, and I want to know when 
it’s going to happen, and I want to make sure it’s fair and balanced.  I don’t care if you 
move the money to get another project on course that needs to be done, but if you’re 
going to do it, I want it to be done in my district because I think that’s not fair when you 
take the money, and how often do you do it? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  I think that this form, which obviously shows quite clearly, in the 
pink and in the teal, where the money is being reallocated.  It’s obviously a good 
blueprint.  It appears that this is fair and equitable, and I don’t think anybody sitting on 
this panel or part of City staff would put up with anything less than fair and equitable, and 
I mean that sincerely, Hattie. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Mr. Chairman, I agree.  If I could make a suggestion -- because we’re 
spending a lot of time here not accomplishing anything, in my opinion, as far as this list 
goes -- there’s about 60 pink lines, I think.  I counted them.  I want to hear the logic the 
City Administration has come up with on each of these pink items, and I think we ought 
to vote on it and make it a recommendation to the Commission saying, yeah, that makes 
sense.  I think this Board needs to impart their advice to the Administration on whether 
this seems logical. 
 
Mr. Spring:  The swapping that goes on is not going to happen a lot.  Not completing 
projects is not going to happen at all.  We’re trying to be fiscally accountable and fiscally 
responsible, particularly as it relates to this bond issuance because Wall Street is 
watching, and the voters, you, all of you, voted on a referendum that had specific 
projects listed, with specific dollar amounts allocated to it.  Yes, you can do some 
switching within the parameters of the entire bond issuance.  However, at the end of the 
day, money cannot be moved from, you know, Larry’s Park that we will create tomorrow 
that doesn’t even exist.  We still have to fulfill our commitment that the voters voted on, 
and there’s no way of getting around that, so I want to -- I hope my words make you feel 
more comfortable that we do have a professional staff here, not only myself, CIP, the 
finance group, our financial advisors, our bond counsel; everybody watching and making 
sure that we fulfill our commitments related to this bond issuance because we want to be 
able to go back to market and do more bonding because the 255, it was great, but it’s 
still not enough.  I do agree with Mr. Reshefsky’s recommendation, although I was going 
to recommend, because you’re just getting this report today, that you even consider 
perhaps doing a call meeting between now and the board meeting, where you can fully 
consider it. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Building on Gary’s recommendation, what would make it easier for us in that 
more thorough review of this document, if there was like a cover memo, bullet points that 
basically laid out the rationale of the reallocation, I think that would make it easier 
because -- and I also would like to -- these reallocations, we’re thinking of it moving from 
one specific project to another, and the reality is it’s all going to one big pool, and there’s 
an amount there, and we’re looking at the shortfalls, and we’re trying to spread the pain 
or minimize the pain across the districts.   
 
Mr. Spring:  Per the referendum -- and this is not just the City of Miami’s bond issue -- 
it’s any bond issue that lists projects.  You have to do the projects that are listed.  We 
can’t go and then create new projects.  When you come down to a situation like we’re in, 
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you do have to make these hard decisions, and that’s why I said they often put the 
completion bond parameters in those bond issuances as a means of covering it.  At the 
end of the day, our financial advisors, our bond rating agencies are comfortable, you 
know, that we’re ahead of this curve, and at the end of the day, if a project is short, then 
the bond is short and then we have to make those hard decisions to decide which 
projects we have to try to find another source to complete or we say we’re not going to 
do that right now and we’ll catch it in the next GOB coming forth. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  The final decision is made on these reallocations by the Commission? 
 
Mr. Spring:  Yes, sir. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  When is this going to the Commission? 
 
Ms. Conway:  April 12, so we have three weeks before this will be before the 
Commission, and then give me a couple days, but I commit that by Thursday we’ll have 
a memorandum out that explains the rationale because, in the case of District 2, we 
were very cognizant that the parks monies for District 2 were in the second series, and 
that the quality of life money for District 2 was in the second series, and none of that was 
touched.   
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Are we having a meeting before April 12? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  What I’d like to do is poll the Board I think we may need possibly 
two meetings?  City Attorney, if we hold an Audit Committee meeting at MRC and the 
majority of the Board shows up, and of course, it’s noticed, and they -- we do a straw poll 
and we know that it’s going to pass, could then we send something to City Commission 
saying that we endorse these changes? 
 
Mr. Aedo:  This is so fundamental and so significant, is there anything that precludes us 
from simply convening a BOB meeting?  I mean, it’s almost semantics, but let’s just have 
a meeting and -- 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Music to my ears, if that’s what you want to do. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  -- I think this -- 
 
Rafael O. Diaz:  You would need a meeting of the full board to send a recommendation 
up. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Yeah, so I think that would be the most expeditious thing, just to have a 
meeting and make it all happen at that one meeting.  In advance of that meeting, we’ll 
have the strategy memo, and we’ll vote the recommendation up or down. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, then I’ll entertain a motion -- 
 
Mr. De La Cabada:  Second.  I mean, I’ll -- motion to convene a meeting. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  -- to hold a special meeting between the regular scheduled meeting 
in order to handle this specific issue, so you make a motion? 
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Mr. De La Cabada:  Yeah.  I’m making a motion that we convene in order to address 
these issues before -- 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Second. 
 
Mr. De La Cabada:  -- the April 12 deadline. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK, and we have a second.  Any further discussion? 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Friendly amendment.  If possible, to have that meeting before the 
Commission meeting, but after you’ve had your discussions with all the Commissioners. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’ll be very simple since four of the five briefings -- one was today; 
three are tomorrow -- 
 
Mr. Aedo:  OK. 
 
Ms. Conway:  -- so I’m sure the remaining two of the Commissioner and the Mayor will 
happen this week. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Because, for obvious reasons, I think that’s going to be important for us to 
know where these Commissioners stand on these recommendations. 
 
Ms. Conway:  And then we’ll have to, based on the short time frame, we’ll have to check 
availability for the location, and then ask all of you to be as accommodating as possible 
with your calendars. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK, Gary, you made the motion.  Would you accept that 
amendment? 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Yes, sir. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Will the second accept that amendment? 
 
Mr. De La Cabada:  Absolutely. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  Any further discussion?  All in favor? 
 
The Board Members (Collectively):  Aye. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Anyone opposed?  OK.  Motion carries. 
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HD/NIB MOTION 07-06 
 
A MOTION TO CONVENE A SPECIAL MEETING OF THE HOMELAND 
DEFENSE/NEIGHBORHOOD IMPROVEMENT BOND OVERSIGHT BOARD TO 
ADDRESS ISSUES SET FORTH AT TODAY’S MEETING PRIOR TO APRIL 12 
DEADLINE, BUT SUBSEQUENT TO THE BRIEFINGS OF THE MAYOR AND CITY 
COMMISSION. 
 
MOVED:  R. De La Cabada  
SECONDED:  G. Reshefsky 
ABSENT: L. Cabrera, L. De Rosa, D. Kubiliun, J. Reyes, M. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present. 
 
 

III. CHAIRPERSON’S OPEN AGENDA: 
 
Chairman Flanders thanked Walter Harvey for his service to the board for the past 
five years. 
 
IV. ADDITIONAL ITEMS: 

 
HD/NIB MOTION 07-07 
 
A MOTION TO ADJOURN TODAY’S MEETING. 
 
MOVED:  M. Cruz  
SECONDED:  J. Solares  
ABSENT: L. Cabrera, L. De Rosa, D. Kubiliun, J. Reyes, M. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present. 
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HOMELAND DEFENSE/ 
NEIGHBORHOOD IMPROVEMENT 

BOND OVERSIGHT BOARD  
MINUTES 

         3-30-07 – 6:00 P.M.  
         CITY OF MIAMI 

CITY HALL CHAMBERS 
3500 Pan American Drive 

         MIAMI, FLORIDA  33133 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________  
The meeting was called to order at 5:44 p.m., with the following members found to be  
 
Present:  Eileen Broton 

Mariano Cruz 
Robert A. Flanders (Chairman) 
David Kubiliun 
Laurinus Pierre 
Gary Reshefsky 
Manolo Reyes (Vice Chairman) 
Jose Solares 
Hattie Willis 

    
    
Absent:   Rolando Aedo 

Luis Cabrera 
Ramon De La Cabada 
Luis De Rosa 

  Jami Reyes 
   
   
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mary Conway, Chief of Operations 
   Larry Spring, Chief Financial Officer 

Rafael O. Diaz, Deputy City Attorney 
   Danette Perez, CIP Department  

Zimri Prendes, CIP Department 
   Joyce A. Jones, City Clerk’s Office 
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I. OLD BUSINESS: 
 

• Briefing on Homeland Defense Neighborhood Improvement Program 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Mary, I think in order to get through this item, I think that it might be 
very good if we took like ten of the items and let people ask a question.  We’ll do it that 
way so that there’re not multiple questions from the same person, so that that question 
should be very important, but in order for us to get through these items, I think we need 
to streamline the process in such a way that everybody gets to ask their concern, and 
then I’ll ask the City Attorney, can we vote on these as a group or do we have to do it 
item by item? 
 
Rafael O. Diaz:  No.  You can vote as a single vote. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  All right, Mary.  You’re on. 
 
Mary Conway:  OK.  Everybody should have the copy of the spreadsheet, and you were 
provided a second version yesterday that is the one that’s before you today, and what 
we did was our best attempt to put notations on the right-hand side that would explain 
the rationale for the recommendations of reallocation of funds.  We can go through and 
take a look at several of those.  Now do you want me to go through and just pick a few 
representative samples, or do you want me to go through, one by one, each of the 
projects proposed for reallocation? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  I think you should pick representative samples. 
 
Ms. Conway:  On the first page -- 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Maybe two from each district. 
 
Gary Reshefsky:  How are we going to do the questions?  Do we want to do questions 
after each district, and then -- or do we want to do questions all at the end?  How do you 
want to do it? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, I think she’s going to take ten items, and I think each item, we 
can pick at it, but only one question from each board member. 
 
Ms. Conway:  OK.  On the first page, Sewell Park restroom park facility, we’re 
recommending that for reallocation.  At the present time, the plans for that project are 
completed.  It’s been before the Board previously.  Unfortunately, there is a lack of 
sewer capacity, and there is a recent condominium development that is under 
construction to the west of Sewell Park; there’s another one that’s planned.  At the 
current time, we could not proceed with the construction of this based on the sewer 
allocation.  However, when the subsequent development comes in and the developers 
have to upsize the sewer line, then this project will be able to move forward, so we’re 
recommending it for reallocation now with a notation that we intend to identify an 
alternate future funding source to come back and finish it.  In the case of neighborhood 
gateways, very little effort, other than a planning study some years ago, had been done 
as far as gateways throughout the City.  It’s something that the City still wants to pursue, 
but at this time, we feel that reallocating these monies to other projects that have 
shortfalls won’t have a tremendous impact on the City.  We don’t have plans on the shelf 
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ready.  It’s really something that’s at a conceptual planning stage at this point.  Again, 
we intend to proceed at a later date to establish gateways so as people enter the City of 
Miami, they’ll know that they’re in the City, and to have primary gateway entrance points 
and monuments that mark them, but this is one that, throughout all the districts, you’ll 
see that we recommended reallocating the gateway funds. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  Are there any questions about these two items?  Gary. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  On the first page, Mary, when you have a zero like right above 
neighborhood gateways, for example, what does that mean when there’s a zero next to 
every column, but you have the project named? 
 
Ms. Conway:  That just means that, at some point in time, we had created a B number to 
track some internal accounting, but as of right now, no funds are assigned to that 
particular B number. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  And how did the project get on this list?  How did the name get on the 
list? 
 
Ms. Conway:  It would have been -- for instance, if you look at -- if you go further up on 
the list, and say, let’s use Kinloch Park as an example.  When monies were allocated, a 
certain amount was allocated for Kinloch Park, and then that was broken down into 
subcategories to track the expenditures.  Some of the expenditures might be done 
through the Parks Department with purchases of equipment for the park; others might be 
handled through the Capital Improvement Department.  They might be phased at 
different times, so the different line items were subsequent breakdowns.  A project or a 
park would be in the bond based on the initial voter referendum and all the backup that 
went along with it, so when you see that one item, Grapeland, that has zeros, it’s for 
some reason we had created it at a time and set it up as a subproject or subcategory, 
and then later the monies were shifted to one of the other Grapeland projects. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  OK.  I’m going to ask the same question when you get to District 2, 
where you have a park that has zero -- I don’t -- you know, if you want to answer it now 
since we’re already on it, but you’ll have Merry Christmas Park has all zeros, and there’s 
no other category where it got money, as far as I could tell.  How does the logic work on 
that one? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  On District 1, are there any questions?  Any further questions, 
anyone? 
 
Mariano Cruz:  The only thing I want to know is is the cost of cleaning the contamination 
there in two parks, Fern Isle and Grapeland, it’s already included here, the expenses? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  For Grapeland Park, the remediation has already been paid for, and 
some of the County GOB monies were used to offset those costs, and for Fern Isle, 
there the issue is capping the site by bringing in two feet of soil, and that’s already under 
contract and included in the numbers for that project. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I have a question also.  The line that says shortfalls, that shortfall 
for District 1 is a shortfall of all those projects that you cannot complete or what is it? 
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Ms. Conway:  That represents the shortfall -- the summary of the shortfall for the projects 
in District 1 that we’re hoping to cover with the reallocation of the monies within this 
bond. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  The allocation from other projects? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  How are you going to cover this? 
 
Ms. Conway:  The projects that are shown on here that have the pink highlight, we are 
recommending to reallocate money from those projects to cover the shortfalls. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  So that’s not included in the total shortfall? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes, it is.   
 
Chairman Flanders:  It might be interesting to point out at this point that -- right now 
we’re looking on the last page.  Look at the police training facility.  Look at the shortfall; 
shortfall’s $12 million.  That’s, in fact, not actually a shortfall.  There was $10 million in 
the bond.  We know it’s going to cost $30 million.  Miami-Dade College is giving us $10 
million, for a total of $20 million, and then another $10 million is coming from someplace 
else, but not here.  In this case, the Administration doesn’t know where the other $10 
million is coming from. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  My question is how are we going to cover the shortfalls. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  They are looking at, obviously, grants.  They’re looking at other 
sources of funding, and now we have Larry -- 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Are those projects just going to be scratched? 
 
Chairman Flanders:  I don’t think so.  Larry Spring, Chief Financial Officer of City of 
Miami. 
 
Larry Spring:  To answer your question, Mr. Reyes, we had -- I think, at the previous 
meeting, I put on the record that the financial advisor, myself, and the Finance staff have 
been researching into the bond documents for this issuance to find out if there was a 
possibility that we could issue completion bonds.  The completion bonds would allow us 
to issue an additional tranche at the end that would go over the $255 million total that 
was approved by referendum without having to go back to the voters to complete the 
projects that were listed.  We have found out that the bond documents were so tightly 
written not only did it not allow for completion bonds to be issued, but it also assessed 
some very other strict guidelines, in particular, the limiting of the millage -- debt millage 
assessment that we can do for this bond and any other GO bond for the life of this bond.  
That being the case, we won’t be able to do the completion bonds.  However, we are 
working on analyzing the City’s overall non ad valorem capacity, which, as you know, 
everyday is growing because of parking surcharge and other revenues, and collaterally, 
because our -- notwithstanding what’s happening in the state -- ad valorem revenue is 
growing, it can be allocated to expenses, thus, freeing up capacity.  Probably over the 
next -- Commissioner Sarnoff has put us on an assignment to look at that capacity 
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because he was interested in issuing some park bonds.  That will be one of the sources 
that we can use to finish these projects.  The other sources, which, I think, this board is 
aware of, is the City is planning on issuing streets bond, utilizing some dedicated non ad 
valorem revenue sources, in particular, the parking surcharge, 20 percent that is 
required to be reinvested; local option gas tax, and the PTP money. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Can you use local --?  I’m not going to go into specifics.  In other 
words, in order to finish all those projects, we have to go back to the taxpayers again. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  No. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Yes, you have.  Directly or indirectly, you’re going back to them.  
You’re going back to them because even if you commit revenues that are coming to the 
City that could be used in certain -- let’s say franchise fees, that they come to the City 
and those could be used for any other projects.  Once you take them and commit those 
revenues, you committed.  To finish these projects, you cannot use them into something 
else that could benefit the City.  Yes, you’re going back to the taxpayers, directly or 
indirectly. 
 
Mr. Spring:  Well, you don’t have -- well, when you say going back to the taxpayer, do 
you mean for a vote? 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  No, no, no, no, no, no. 
 
Mr. Spring:  You’re saying we’ll be utilizing other revenues.  Correct.  We’re working on 
that still.  We’ve been working on it, and like I said, I have been able to get, at least, this 
information from bond counsel, and as you know, we are on schedule right now to have 
the second tranche of this bond issuance out on the street and the revenue in hand by 
June 1 or 2 of this year, and then the subsequent bond issuances, streets bond, within 
30 days, and if you would like, once we have a clear picture of our non ad valorem 
capacity, I could come back to the Board with a report in maybe 60 or 90 days and give 
you an update to see where we are and if we can devise a plan.  As you know, it is a 
hard pill to swallow.  It’s something that we’re going to have to deal with with the 
Commissioners.  You know, we’re making a recommendation at this point, but our 
ultimate goal is to get the projects done at the end of the day. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Thank you.  Hattie, you have a question? 
 
Hattie Willis:  I raised concerns last meeting, and I went over this thoroughly, and I 
pondered over it, and did everything I can do to accommodate what you’re trying to do.  
Some of the things, I can’t give an honest and appropriate answer to it right now 
because I haven’t been able to get with Mary to get some of the questions that I needed 
answered, but my major concern, before I start with any of this is, that I can’t consciously 
go to my Commissioner and say vote for doing this because I have some contingencies.  
Now, I don’t have a problem with you moving the money.  I want you to understand that.  
I understand perfectly clear that you’re saying if there’s a project over here that can be 
done right now and it needs funding to get it done, why can’t we move this money that’s 
sitting here because maybe we’re just in the design phase of one project and we can 
complete this project and get it done, like Little Haiti Park. 
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Chairman Flanders:  Hattie, could you do me a favor?  I realize that it’s a rather involved 
question, but could you, in a very shorthand fashion, what is the actual question? 
 
Ms. Willis:  I need to say what I need to say, Bob, and I’m going to get to the question.  
OK, the point -- I’ve got a two-fold question.  The first part of my question is, if you move 
the money, I don’t have a problem with you moving the money, as long as it’s staying in 
my district, and that’s one of my recommendations to my Commissioner. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  May I stop you there and answer that question?  Has any 
money been moved out of District 5 to any other district? 
 
Ms. Conway:  If you look at -- yes.  If you look at the last page, where there’s about a 
third of the way down from the top, total District 5, you’ll see under HD total, the original 
allocation was $55.2 million, and with the reallocations, you’ll see that total on the right 
side go down to $52.7 million, so the $2.5 million that’s in the previous column for the 
adjustment is being reallocated to other projects.  For instance, in the case -- and they’re 
not projects to other districts, per se.  One of the things that we discussed in the Audit 
Subcommittee was that we were going to prioritize the public safety projects, the 
homeland defense projects, so what you’ll also see, if you go further down on that page, 
you’ll see the police training facility requiring another $12 million to be able to complete 
that, so where you see monies coming from districts, we did the best that we could to try 
to keep the monies within the district.  If you look at District 5 in the shortfall category, 
you’ll see that District 5 actually had $3.8 million on existing projects to be able to be 
completed, and those are being covered from the total adjustment, so while, yes, District 
5 has a slight reduction, I think District 4 has a slight increase, and the other three 
districts, we can look it up one by one.  Each has a some impact, slightly upward or 
slightly downward. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Did that answer your question, Hattie? 
 
Ms. Willis:  But the monies have yet not -- this is what you’re recommending.  You 
haven’t moved -- you’ve moved this money already or you’re recommending --? 
 
Ms. Conway:  No.  This is a recommendation, and we’ve been getting feedback from 
each of the Commissioner’s offices, and as we are getting that feedback, in conjunction 
with the feedback that we get tonight, we’ll be creating a final version of this to distribute 
to the Commission at the April 12 Commission meeting. 
 
Ms. Willis:  Well, I can give you my recommendations on paper so I won’t take up the 
time from my district and how I looked at it, and the closing saying is this.  Moving my 
money is fine, but it needs to stay in my district, and I won’t agree to anything else but 
that, and that’s the way I feel about it. 
 
Mr. Cruz:  I have a question.  Who is the person who determines what streets are going 
to be fixed? 
 
Ms. Conway:  There was -- just to answer as far as this bond -- very little in the money of 
this bond was for streets and street infrastructure. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  I’m just looking here, Mary -- and I think -- I don’t quite 
understand your answer to Hattie.  I’m a little confused on it, and I can’t believe I’m the 
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only one.  I’m looking at the actual projects in District 5, and I see that there is an 
originally total of $55 million, and now there’s not quite $53 million, but as I go through 
the other districts, I look at District 4, I see District 4 has $27 million, less than half, 
incidentally, that is in District 5.  Then I’d go to District 2 and I see $70 million, but I also 
see district-wide improvements there.  I see Museum of Science.  I see the art museum.  
I’m sorry, citywide improvements, and I thought that CIP was going to take these 
citywide improvements out of the district because it’s not fair to count them as part of 
District 2.  I mean, a museum is a regional.  It’s not a district thing.  It’s a citywide 
improvement; isn’t that true? 
 
Ms. Conway:  I wouldn’t argue with that.  You could go through and sort this and 
generate it in a lot of different ways.  What we did was our best effort to try to group the 
projects according to the -- for instance, there are fire stations that show in the districts 
where they are.  I guess you could make the argument that a fire station serves a 
neighborhood, so it’s appropriate to show it in a district.  We didn’t get to that level of 
specificity.  I recall that you had made that comment, and we weren’t able to go through 
and make all of those changes.  We just did our best effort on the first pass to aggregate 
the projects according to the districts where they fell, and if we had things like the police 
training facility or citywide soccer, greenways, we kept those in the citywide category.  
We could try to go back and rework it a different way and pull out some of the other 
projects, if the group could agree to what projects those should be. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, I think that illustrates the point I’m actually trying to make.  I 
mean, when we look at the seawall reconstruction in Bicentennial Park, clearly, that’s a 
citywide.  I mean, District 2 happens to be downtown Miami, the Grove, and the Upper 
Eastside, and that, of course, is in the heart of downtown, but it, in fact, is a citywide 
improvement.  My point is, as I'm looking at the bonds and you take out citywide 
improvements, and then you look at the districts, really -- and this is the point that I’m 
trying to make to my colleague, Hattie Willis -- is that District 5 -- and the bond was 
designed originally to actually put more projects and more money into District 5 than 
almost any other part of the City, except for those district-wide projects, such as the 
police training facility, the seawall, stuff like that.  Little Haiti doesn’t have a seawall, so it 
couldn’t be fixed.  In any case, I think if you look at this and you look at some of the other 
districts and you see that they’re less than half of the improvements.  I spoke to the 
Parks director, Ernest Burkeen, yesterday, and I asked him, have we pulled any 
projects, and the answer is absolutely not, and I really wanted to tell you that, from the 
inception of this bond -- I think it was the brainchild of Commissioner Winton, who 
withheld District 2’s -- not the citywide, but District 2’s improvements until now, and in 
fact, District 2, when you take out the citywide improvements, very little has been done.  
The lion’s share of the improvements of this bond have been done in District 5. 
 
Ms. Willis:  They have not been done in District 5.  Maybe the intention is for them to be 
done, but they have not been done in District 5.  District’s 5 park had -- most of the 
projects are either going to be done, or they’re supposed to be being done.  Little things 
have been happening.  District 5 -- and I want everybody up here to understand this.  
I’ve never seen this in my life, and I’ve lived in Florida all of my life.  District 5, Little Haiti 
community is the only community in Dade County that does not have a full facility park.  
There’s 13 parks from 81st Street down to Biscayne Boulevard to the Brickell Avenue on 
the east side of the water, and I don’t have a park in my community.  Now what I’m 
saying is -- and what I want you to understand is what I’m saying.  I go to each one of 
these parks.  I’ve got holes in roofs.  I’ve got kids with no air condition.  I can tell you 
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about each one of my parks; that all of them are in horrible condition, deplorable 
condition, so now what I’m saying to you is maybe something Ernest is telling you 
something that he’s telling you.  I’m telling you what I live with everyday.  Now what I'm 
saying is this.  Little Haiti Park building, which Mary has said has disappeared.  I came 
up with $1.8 million from all of the things in my district -- I didn’t touch anybody else’s 
district -- that could be moved out of some of the things that could be moved and don’t 
have to necessarily be done right now, and I put it all together on a piece of paper, and I 
can give you a copy of it, and I said that you could take this money and you can move 
this money, and maybe you can find an additional funding to build my building in my park 
and give back my 4,400 square feet, so what I’m saying is this.  I don’t know what you’re 
getting your information based on -- and I’ve been trying to meet with Mary and Burkeen 
so we can sit down and go over this, but I know what I’m doing on a daily basis. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, I would like you to do that.  I’d like to invite the Parks director 
to sit down with you and Mary because, actually, the record clearly shows that your 
information is incorrect, and when the projects are completed, very incorrect.  I’m looking 
here -- by the way, I’ve been to Hadley Park a number -- 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Maintenance. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  -- of times -- Pardon me? 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  It’s probably a maintenance issue and not a capital issue. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Yeah.  It sounds like a maintenance issue.  Hadley Park is a full-
service park.  It’s got -- 
 
Ms. Willis:  Hadley Park is a beautiful park. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  It’s got everything going for it.  I mean, it’s absolutely sensational, 
so I don’t honestly know -- your allegation doesn’t hold water that it’s not -- that you don’t 
have any full-service parks. 
 
Ms. Willis:  No.  Hadley Park is not one of my allegations.  I’m talking about Range.  I’m 
talking about Lummus.  I’m talking about -- 
 
Chairman Flanders:  But you just said that District 5 didn’t have any full-service parks. 
 
Ms. Willis:  No.  This is what I’m saying, Hadley Park was completed, and in this district, 
I said, in Hadley Park, you could take the money from Hadley Park and put it somewhere 
else to another park and complete it.  That’s what’s on my -- what my suggestions are 
because Hadley Park doesn’t need any more money there, Bob, but what I’m saying is 
these things haven’t been looked at yet, but I’m -- and I’m in agreement with you about 
Hadley Park, but not all of them, so all I’m saying is I made some recommendations.  I 
put it on paper.  I’d like to meet with staff.  I can’t possibly give a fair recommendation to 
my Commissioner until I’ve met with them to go over these things because what I’m 
seeing is not what I see. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, Hattie, I can tell you the way that we’ve seen it work prior to 
your coming to the Board.  It is incumbent upon each board member, as appointed by 
their Commissioner or the Mayor, when they have questions, to go to the person that 
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appointed them, sit down with them, and usually, that person, that Commissioner or the 
Mayor, comes up with recommendations for staff, and I agree with Gary.  It sounds like 
some of the things that you’re talking about are maintenance/operational issues, not 
capital improvements issues.  Now every Commissioner -- and I’m sure that 
Commissioner Spence-Jones is no different -- has taken a high degree of interest in their 
district and has followed through on that, so actually, you’re part of the solution. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Mr. Chairman, I’ve been waiting for five years for them to build anything 
in a park in District 2, so I would really like to get to the second page of this report so I 
can hear something about this. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Very good.  Eileen, you have a question? 
 
Eileen Broton:  No.  I was just going to sort of piggyback on what Hattie was saying that I 
know that our Commissioner has been briefed on -- I verified again today, just to make 
sure I didn’t dream that.  She is very -- she’s aware and is very aware of everything that 
is done here -- 
 
Ms. Conway:  And we intend to do -- 
 
Ms. Broton:  -- and has not taken issue with it, is my understanding, but I will tell you that 
a lot of our parks -- if we were to do a tour, you know, spend a weekend doing a tour to 
these parks, we would be very disappointed.  In District 5, in particular -- but Bob, the 
one right next to the American Legion, you know, I’ve been in there.  We wanted to rent 
space for a day.  You know, the electric pieces were hanging out of the wall.  I mean, all 
of the parks in the City really, really need major work. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, that’s why Commissioner Sarnoff has brought forth the idea of 
a parks bond, which I certainly, personally, highly support. 
 
Ms. Broton:  I think that what we’re saying is we’re frustrated because we don’t see 
these buildings looking the way they need to be looking, but, you know, I’m not seeing 
that in other districts either, you know.   
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, it’s really tough to turn around 25 or 30 years of really bad 
management.  You know, it’s hard to turn that around, but certainly, the bond addresses 
that.  Now let’s go to -- Pepe? 
 
Jose Solares:  Yeah, but the worst part, now you’re telling me we cannot fix what was 
done 30 years ago, but now we’re going to be building new parks for the same thing to 
happen that has happened in 30 years?  We should repair what we have. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  In fact, Pepe, they covered that in the last two minutes, in which 
they said that they’ve placed a line item in the City’s budget.  When the new facility 
comes on line, it now is a line item in the budget.  It’s clear that we’re behind the eight 
ball.  Look, let’s not mince words.  The bottom line on this particular bond issue is it’s 
$255 million.  It’s matched with a lot of grants, OK, and even with the grants and all the 
other monies, like the County GOB, this is a drop in the bucket for the City’s unmet 
capital needs.  They were estimated when this bond was passed in the year 2001 at 
$1.6 billion.  This is $255 million.  You know, it’s a start, and if we do our job and we 
make sure the projects come in, then we can go back to the voters and ask for more 
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money.  I have always seen that as one of the obligations of this board.  The point is this 
is a start.  It’s not perfect, but it’s better than where we used to be. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Let’s hear about District 2. 
 
Ms. Conway:  OK.  If we go to page 2, what you’ll see under District 2 - all of the pink 
that’s under District 2 -- and as the Chairman mentioned, the majority of the parks 
monies for District 2 and the quality of life monies for District 2 were in the second 
series, so what we did was -- they show in pink, but you’ll see a note off to the right side 
that’ll say either shifted to District 2 quality of life balance for Commissioner project 
allocation or you’ll see a line that says shifted to District 2 homeland defense parks for 
Commissioner project allocation.  What we did was we showed all of them in pink, and 
we aggregated them into a total line item.  If you look on page 2, in the blue column at 
the second number from the bottom, you’ll see $3,138,408.  That’s the sum total of all of 
the District 2 parks monies, and why did we do that?  There was a question a little while 
ago about when you see zeros all the way across the report, what does that mean.  It 
meant that, at some point in time, parks had money in this bond for improvements they 
intended to do, but they were able to then fund that through another funding source, and 
they zeroed out funding for that project from this bond source.  In the case of the three 
million, based on what we’ve seen with the other park projects, again, going back to the 
fact that, in 2001, in a very, very short time frame, the bond was put together and all the 
cost breakdowns were done on a project by project basis, so they’re subject to change.  
We aggregated everything under one number, and then we’re working with the Parks 
director and with the Commissioner’s staff and the Commissioner to identify how he 
wants to see that $3 million allocated to parks projects in District 2 that have not yet 
begun, and then the same thing with the quality of life balance that you’ll see -- give me 
a second. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Mary, where’s the first line that you mentioned? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  Look on page 2, and look in the blue column, all the way at the right, 
the second number from the bottom, and if you follow that over, you’ll see we created a 
new B number, titled District 2 HD Parks Improvements, and that actually is the sum of 
all of the other allocations in District 2 on parks that are shown in pink, so basically, it 
was a redistribution.  It’s a little bit different than how we handled the other districts. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Very. 
 
Ms. Conway:  And then in the case of the quality of life monies in District 2, we did the 
same thing and aggregated them, so in the case of Ballet Gamonet, which is the first 
project on the list, that had 300,000, and then you’ll see Morningside, Roberto Clemente, 
Venetian; those were all projects that were shown to be funded with quality of life.  
Those are all summed together, and there’s a line item that totals $3.9 million, so that 
the Commissioner can decide how he wants to allocate those dollars. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  So District 2 Commissioner gets $3.9 million from his quality of life, and 
he gets three point something million for his parks?  He gets about 6 or $7 million to do 
the District 2 parks out of the bond.  Would that be accurate? 
 
Ms. Conway:  In what was in the second series. 
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Mr. Reshefsky:  But there was nothing in the first series because whatever was in the 
first series, you spent on Brickell Village, I guess, and a couple of these others. 
 
Ms. Conway:  There was some money -- well, I mean, there’s money on -- and this goes 
to the Chairman’s comments as far as Bicentennial -- 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  But not for parks, not for parks. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Not a lot of parks. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  There was for citywide things, but not for -- 
 
Ms. Conway:  There was some.  I mean, there’s money on Armbrister Park in the first 
series.  Roberto Clemente Park had money in the first series and also has a shortfall, as 
we discussed here, and that’s being recommended to be covered.  Douglas Park had 
monies in the first series. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  And what is that number total, roughly?  What are you talking about?  
What is that number total of what was spent for parks, a couple million dollars?  We’re 
talking about ten total for District 2 parks? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  Well, if you don’t count Bicentennial. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  If we don’t count Bicentennial, we’re talking about $10 million, and how 
does that compare to what we did in all the other districts?  Very poorly, I would guess. 
 
Ms. Conway:  It’s less. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  It’s considerably less. 
 
Ms. Conway:  But again, that’s based on -- that’s not a reduction in what was proposed 
with this bond.  No money is being taken away from parks in District 2 from this bond. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Well, that’s not true because we allocated originally for the parks a 
much larger number, plus the quality of life money of $5 million, which could be spent 
anywhere, so we’re talking -- you had -- I mean, if you just took neighborhood parks of 
the $72 million number for District 2, and you just had neighborhood parks on there, I 
don’t know what that number would be out of the 72.  I don’t think it’s 10.  I mean, I think 
it’s probably much higher than that. 
 
Ms. Conway:  We can sit down with you individually and show you in detail. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Yeah, I’d like to, and the other thing I’d like to know about this is when 
you said that ,with these lines that have zeros on them, that the Parks Department got 
money from somebody else to do them.  I think we ought to show that on this, if that’s 
the case, and we need to see that evidence here. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’s fine.  We can get the Parks Department to give us feedback so we 
can amend those and include a notation. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Anything else in District 2?  OK, District 3. 
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Ms. Conway:  District 3 starts on page 4.  If you look at the first line item, you’ll see the 
District 3 quality of life balance that had $1.6 million that’s being recommended for 
reallocation all to the Jose Marti gym project.  If you go to the second page, you’ll see 
Calle Ocho improvements, and we’re recommending that those dollars in the second 
series be recommended for reallocation, either all or a portion of them, and that was 
done because we can use other streets sources to complete the desired improvements 
on Calle Ocho and free up the monies in this bond to cover a funding need on another 
project within this bond program, and then, again, you’ll see gateways in each of the 
districts recommended for reallocation.  On the first page, in the case of Henderson 
Park, the bathroom building, that was originally recommended for reallocation, but after 
feedback from the Parks Department, as well as the district Commissioner, what we’re 
going to do there is scale back the scope of the project so it’s strictly to provide 
bathroom facility and a small storage closet and office area and keep that project 
funded, so that’s an area where we’re taking the feedback that we’re receiving from the 
district Commissioner’s offices, as well as from the board members, and going back to 
try to make adjustments within this before we make the final recommendation to the 
Commission at the April 12 meeting. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Are there any questions in District 3?  OK, District 4. 
 
Ms. Conway:  District 4 starts on the bottom of page 5.  If you look down toward the 
bottom, Bay of Pigs Park playground and site furnishings had a nominal amount of 
monies.  We’re recommending that for reallocation.  That’s something where we 
anticipate if the Parks Department needs to make improvements there, they’ll be able to 
identify that through another revenue source.  Also, you’ll see the gateways on District 4 
being recommended for reallocation, as discussed, and then you see some playground 
equipment in Coral Park, and then in Coral Gate, some monies that were in second 
series that we’re recommending for reallocation.  District 4 actually sees a net increase, 
and it sees a net increase to finish projects that were started using first series monies or 
that have been identified as a priority from a public safety standpoint, like the fire 
stations. 
 
Ms. Broton:  I don’t know if it’s really in our purview, but is there a way that -- what is the 
easiest way to find out that the Parks Department has indeed found other sources, so 
that we could almost close the page on this? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Well, what we’ll do is reach out to them -- well, for the ones that show 
zeros, those we can respond back as to why they took the money away from a particular 
line item because either it was deemed today or last year not to be the same priority it 
was in 2001, or they funded it and accomplished it through other revenue sources, and 
we’ll have that notation added on to this. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  We have a $6 million shortfall in this district, right? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  There’s additional monies -- we have a funding need of $6.7 million 
to finish the projects, such as Robert King High, Bryan Park, Shenandoah Park, and the 
two fire stations in the district. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Were those projects included in the initial bond issuance? 
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Ms. Conway:  Every project in here was included -- well, every park was included in here 
with the budget allocation. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Is this part of the --?  Because from what I read in the paper, one 
of the excuses that we have given -- or the Administration have given -- is that there 
were some projects that were included that were budgeted years before, and the actual 
costs are much greater.  Is that so? 
 
Ms. Conway:  It’s a combination of factors. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  But is that one of the factors? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  The cost escalation that you would typically see on a year to year 
basis in 2001 versus what we’ve seen in the market in the last two to three years is 
dramatically higher. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  And those projects were brought up to this board, years after 
those budgets were created, right? 
 
Ms. Conway:  I’m not sure I understand your question. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  When you came here -- when the Administration came in front of 
this board for those projects to be recommended for a vote, those budgets that were 
developed for those projects were budgets that were developed years before, right?  
When you presented us with a cost for the project, the estimated cost was based on 
budgets that were developed years before, right?  That’s what I understand from what I 
read in the paper. 
 
Ms. Conway:  When the bond was conceived, there were budget allocations -- 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  No, no.  I’m not talking about the bonds.  Excuse me.   
 
Ms. Conway:  -- made to projects. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I’m not talking about bonds.  I’m talking about this board, in 
relation to the projects that came before it.  The projects that came before us on a given 
date, project X, if it was one of those projects that was budgeted on 2001, let’s say, 
those were the estimated costs that was brought up to us for us to recommend for 
approval? 
 
Ms. Conway:  Every project comes before the Board for approval when we’re prepared 
to enter into a contract to expend money on a project, so we bring the projects before 
the Board for the design phase of the project -- in the case of Little Haiti, for land 
acquisition -- or then for construction, so the projects -- so in the case of District 4, where 
we show projects that have additional funding needs to complete them today, those 
projects have come before the Board based on the original scope concept that was 
developed, coordination and public input with the community, and they had an 
engineer’s estimate tied to them. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Yes, but you’re still not answering my question.  From what I 
read in the paper, it clearly states that some of those projects and one of the reasons 



  March 30, 2007 14

that we are in the predicament that we are now, that we have a shortfall, is that projects 
that were budgeted years before they were presented to us came before us and were 
included.  Is that the case? 
 
Ms. Conway:  I’m sorry, but I don’t understand your question. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Very simple.  I’m going to give you an example.  In 2001, they 
have a certain park, Park X, and the project for that, it was budgeted at $2 million in 
2001.  When you included that park and brought that project before us, you came with 
$2 million or you updated those costs? 
 
Ms. Conway:  The costs were updated on a regular basis -- 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Then that reason -- 
 
Ms. Conway:  -- to the best -- 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  -- that excuse that’s being used is not valid. 
 
Ms. Conway:  -- that they were known at that time, depending on the level of engineering 
plans that we had at that time, and again, that goes back to the projects get brought 
before the Board to approve the design.  It’s only when the design is completed -- now 
there was an effort to try to keep the projects within the budget, and what we’ve 
discussed before is that a lot of the projects, when we got final pricing for construction, 
many of the projects were within the existing budgets.  For projects that didn’t fall within 
the existing budget, we went back and value engineered projects to keep them within the 
budget, but then there are some other projects that are included on this list where we 
weren’t able to do that and meet the initial intent of the project, so those have an 
additional funding need, but when we brought the items before the Commission, it 
certainly was with the most accurate information we had at that time, based on an 
engineer’s projection, but not having plans completed.  Now when we bring the items 
back for construction, we actually have prices, and we’re ready to enter into a contract, 
and we’re requesting approval with a known number. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  We’ve covered this in the two prior meetings. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Excuse me.  I was absent, but I’m going to tell you the way I feel 
because you’re saying a total different thing than the person that was sitting there before 
was saying.  One of the excuses that was presented to us was that those projects -- I 
mean, due to the fact that if we didn’t spend -- I mean, if we didn’t have projects aligned 
within the first bond issue that amounted to certain amount of dollars, OK, that we would 
have a penalty, and therefore, then they have to include certain projects in, and those 
projects, they were included and estimates were not updated, and that was said in here, 
and if that’s the case, I feel duped because every time that everybody stood before us, 
we always asked if this was a right budget for -- if it was budgeted right, and if they were 
being completed within budget, and I don’t know.  Maybe I don’t know how to read 
English, but what I read in the paper, that was one of the excuses of the many excuses 
that were presented, plus the cost increase of steel, concrete, and all that, but that was 
among the excuses. 
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Ms. Conway:  Cost estimates are always refined as projects go from a planning stage to 
design and up to construction.  I mean, that’s not atypical.  It happens with the City’s 
program.  It happens with the County’s transit program.  It happens at the airport.  I 
mean, that’s a routine occurrence. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Yes, I know. 
 
Ms. Conway:  Your planning level estimate is not as refined and detailed as when you 
actually have design plans that are fully permitted, and the estimate continues to get 
refined throughout the process. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I know about that and I know the system that is used, the change 
orders technique and tactic that is used and all that, but that’s totally different. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Mr. Chair, we’re going to lose our quorum in a second because I’m 
going to leave, so we know how we’re going to vote.  If we want to accomplish 
something tonight, I’m happy to vote. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, I feel like we’re very unresolved right now.  In fact, I don’t 
even want to call the question because I don’t think that there has been a good 
representation in terms of the answers that we’re seeking and the answers that are 
available or the explanation, whatever.  Certainly, Manolo -- I mean, obviously, if you 
had been here, you would know that we had project -- what they call project creep.  Now 
how does project creep come about?  Project creep comes about when the 
Commissioner says instead of just doing this, I want to do that.  In many cases, the 
original projects were literally brought out of thin air.  We did not go through -- and this is 
an inherent flaw, a fundamental flaw of the original bond.  We did not have the time or 
the expertise to go through and do the environmentals, to do the design, to do the 
engineering, and so, in a sense, this bond was, in that respect, flawed from the very 
beginning.  We’ve been behind the eight ball.  Now I don’t personally know of a single 
construction project that I’ve ever been associated with that, over a period of time, came 
in at the original cost and whatever, so I really honestly feel that -- Mary, would you like 
to do a summation, and then maybe we can call the question?  But I think that my 
colleagues are feeling that their monies have been shifted.  I mean you told me that 
District 2 had not been impacted with parks, but now I understand something different. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Before you call the question, Bob, I have a request from 
Commissioner González, and I don’t know if it has to be -- have to present a motion or 
something.  I met with him.  I sat with him.  We went over all this, and he’s very upset 
about this, and he is the one that appointed me to this board, and we would like to have 
a list of all consultants and the job they did for the money, all consultants that took -- I 
mean, that were paid with bond money; a list from $50,000 to $2 million -- to $20, 
whatever it is, every single consultant. 
 
Ms. Conway:  At the last meeting, it was distributed. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  OK.  He would like to have that list and results, what was their -- 
what they did for the pay, OK? 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  OK.  I’m going to run.  I’d like to make a motion, if I can, Mr. Chairman. 
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Chairman Flanders:  Yeah, go ahead. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  I’m going to make a motion -- I reject the staff’s recommendations, as 
they’re presented tonight, and I’m happy to approve them at a later date, but I make a 
recommendation to reject them, as they’re presented tonight. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I second it. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Do we have a second? 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I second. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  All in favor -- oh, wait a minute.  Any further discussion?  All in 
favor? 
 
Ms. Willis:  I don’t feel comfortable.  I would like to table this before I make a vote so I 
can get my information answered. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  No, no, no, no.  The motion is that -- Please, could you repeat 
the motion? 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  My motion was to reject the recommendations as they’re presented to 
us as they are. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Reject. 
 
Ms. Willis:  OK. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  And you second it. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  And I second it. 
 
Ms. Willis:  And I agree. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  And -- OK.  Any further discussion? 
 
Mr. Cruz:  Yeah.  I think that if we pay excessive money to consultants, that’s less 
money left for bricks and mortar or to buy land, whatever it is.  That’s what I think.   
 
Chairman Flanders:  Well, actually, I don’t think today -- when you do due diligence, 
Mariano, you can’t live without consultants.  You can’t live without lawyers.  You can’t 
live without accountants.  You can’t live without engineers.  You can’t live without people 
that that’s their expertise, and we had a choice, evidently, of either bringing it in-house or 
hiring an independent consultant.  By having an independent consultant, of course, you 
don’t put the millstone of the burden cost around your neck that we’re having to struggle 
with right now, as you know, medical costs, retirement costs, and so forth.  In any case, I 
call the question.  
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HD/NIB MOTION 07-09 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE TO REJECT STAFF’S RECOMMENDATIONS AS 
PRESENTED REGARDING THE HOMELAND DEFENSE NEIGHBORHOOD 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM REALLOCATIONS. 
 
MOVED: G. Reshefsky 
SECONDED:  M. Reyes 
ABSENT: R. Aedo, L. Cabrera, R. De La Cabada, L. De Rosa, J. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present, with the exception of Chairman Flanders, who voted no on the item. 
 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  I’ll just say, Mr. Chairman, this board has never stood in the way of 
anything that the Administration’s wanted to do.  We’ve supported everything, and I hope 
that they’ll come back before us and bring us something that we can support, that we all 
understand because this is very important to the City, to us, and to all the residents, so I 
hope we can get something that we’re ready to support. 
 
Ms. Conway:  On behalf of the Administration, we’ll try to schedule another meeting 
before April 12, but we do have the deadline of the April 12 Commission. 
 
Mr. Reshefsky:  Mary, I think it’s not fair for us to rush like we did in 2004 with those no-
bid contracts.  I mean, this is -- I understand the City’s got deadlines and everything, but 
-- and the Commission can move forward.  I mean, that’s their power to do that, but you 
know, we tried -- we’re here on a Friday night until 7:45.   
 
Ms. Conway:  We understand. 
 
Ms. Willis:  I spoke to my Commissioner, and she is not happy, so I’m just letting you 
know that we need to talk. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  All right.  So noted. 
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II. NEW ITEM: 
 

 Additional Grant to the Miami Art Museum to Support the 
Development of a New Fine Art Museum Facility in Bicentennial Park 

 
HD/NIB MOTION 07-08 
 
A MOTION TO FUND THE ADDITIONAL GRANT TO THE MIAMI ART MUSEUM 
TO SUPPORT THE DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW FINE ART MUSEUM FACILITY IN 
BICENTENNIAL PARK, WITH THE CONDITION THAT UPDATES ARE GIVEN TO 
THE BOARD EVERY SIX MONTHS AND THAT THE GRANT BE FUNDED BY THE 
MUSEUM OF ART FUNDING SOURCE INSTEAD OF THE QUALITY OF LIFE 
FUNDING SOURCE. 
 
MOVED: G. Reshefsky 
SECONDED:  E. Broton 
ABSENT: R. Aedo, L. Cabrera, R. De La Cabada, L. De Rosa, J. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present, with the exception of Jose Solares, who voted against the item. 
 
 

III. CHAIRPERSON’S OPEN AGENDA: 
 
 

IV. ADDITIONAL ITEMS: 
 
Rafael O. Diaz addressed the Board regarding the provisions of the Sunshine Law, 
stating that communications between board members outside of meetings are not 
allowed.  Every communication has to be in the Sunshine, and it has to be during the 
course of a noticed meeting.  If there is such a communication outside of that, it’s in 
violation of the Sunshine Law, and it’s a criminal misdemeanor. 
 
 
HD/NIB MOTION 07-10 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE TO ADJOURN TODAY’S MEETING. 
 
MOVED: H. Willis 
SECONDED:  G. Reshefsky 
ABSENT: R. Aedo, L. Cabrera, R. De La Cabada, L. De Rosa, J. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present. 
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I. CITY MANAGER PEDRO G. HERNANDEZ WILL ADDRESS THE BOARD 
ON THE HOMELAND DEFENSE NEIGHBORHOOD IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM.  

 
Chairman Flanders:  I understand that the City Manager’s at the bitter end of a very 
difficult negotiation, and that is the only reason why he could not be here at this point, so 
since we have quorum, we’re going to start, and even though the only item on the  
agenda is having the City Manager here, I would like to make a few comments.  This 
board has been in existence for five years, starting in May, and actually, a number of the 
original people are still on the board, which says something about our feelings about 
being effectively contributing to the effort.  I wrote down some thoughts, and they are not 
Pollyanna thoughts.  They are not opinions; they’re facts.  The bottom line is that the City 
and the citizens of Miami have benefited greatly from the increase in quality of life that 
the CIP projects are bringing to the City, and the majority of these projects have been 
brought in on budget and on time, and I hate to see the City get a black eye when it's not 
warranted.  I’ve lived here since 1968, and I could tell you that the City warranted a lot of 
black eyes in the past, but since 1999, when we elected Johnny Winton, that was the 
beginning of a new City of Miami, and then came in the new mayor, and the complexion 
of the City Administration, the City Commission, and the City staff is so completely 
different than what it was five, six, seven, eight years ago.  With all due respect to my 
fellow board members, just signaling out consultants without looking at the big picture 
may be an incorrect way of looking at it.  Just to heap abuse on consultants without 
recognizing the multiple benefits that they bring to the City's project is really not 
accurate.  I will also say that, with the tremendous insight and leadership of the Mayor, 
City Commission, City Manager, City staff, and this Bond Oversight Board, that it hasn’t 
been business as usual in the City.  We are not only transforming the face of the City, 
but we’ve changed the way that the City does business.  One, good oversight, project 
tracking, and timely updates.  Two, the addition of a line item in the City's budget for 
operational expense of the project the year that it is completed.  Three, the vast majority 
of the projects are being completed on time and within budget.  Certainly, the bond issue 
had an inherent flaw from the beginning.  In order to take timely advantage of the small 
window of opportunity to get it out in front of the voters, it wasn’t possible to accomplish 
the necessary project surveys, engineering, and design to formulate a fully accurate cost 
estimate for the projects, and this flaw has evidenced itself as the City has moved 
forward, but the problem has not been insurmountable.  City staff has adhered to this 
Board’s mandate to stay as close to the original project description that was voted on by 
the citizens of Miami.  Another flaw was there was no public input, so now we bring the 
projects forward and we invite the public’s input, either through parks, fire, police, flood 
mitigation, and what does the public want?  The public wants what they want, so do you 
think that the Commissioner and the Mayor is going to say no?  I don't think that's 
realistic, and I don't believe you do either.  One thing that I know for sure, despite the 
obstacles, despite the hardships, the City, since this board has existed, has been 
operating in good faith, and I think we need to remember that.  Part of the problem in the 
cost overruns that we faced is an escalation that, in last four or five years, we haven’t 
seen since the hyperinflation of the 1970s, but if you step back and look at the big 
picture, again, you will realize that this is not an insurmountable project.  I will now turn 
the meeting over to the City Manager, Pete Hernandez. 
 
Pedro G. Hernandez:  Thank you, and I apologize sincerely for being late.  I know you’re 
dealing with an item that is very, very difficult and very, very sensitive, and it’s something 
that I’ve been becoming familiar with over the last nine months.  The Homeland 
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Defense/Neighborhood Improvement Bond program was something that was initiated as 
a great idea at the right time.  I was over at the County when the City was able to move 
this forward, and we at the County thought that the City was very smart and timely when 
they did what they did because the bond program went to the voters like in November 
2001, and timing wise, it was perfect and it worked.  On the one side, they were smart 
and timely when they got it done.  On the other hand, there was no pre-advanced work 
in developing the list of projects that they had at hand.  They probably used a lot of 
napkins in developing the concept, so you have a nice list of projects where they 
identified needs.  However, they didn’t have master plans, and they didn’t have designs 
of those projects that could have been used to do estimates.  They were dealing with 
very conceptual estimates for projects that later on, when they began to detail the 
project, when they went out to the public to present the project, even the public input 
began to change the project, and the scope of it began to change.  I would say, in most 
cases, if not in all, the changes to the scope is positive.  It’s to generate something that 
was much better, but the problem is that when you do that you’re getting away from what 
you originally conceived as a price tag.  We’ve had cost of construction increase over 
the last two or three years more than anyone could have anticipated.  When you put 
together the conceptual level of the beginning with the increase of construction costs, 
with some unforeseen circumstances found in certain projects, you end up having 
project demands for funds that are greater than the money allocated to the projects, and 
I want to be very careful in the use of the word funding demands and shortages 
because, unfortunately, in  El Nuevo Herald, they used the word deficit a couple of 
times, and it forced me to go to dictionary, and deficit deals with expenditures beyond 
your revenues, so you’re spending money that you don’t have.  In this case, that hasn’t 
happened.  What happened is that we have projects that are costing more than the 
money that we have allocated to those projects, so as we move forward in this bond 
program, you’re going to get into projects that you won’t have enough money to do, so 
what happens?  Now we’re faced with a situation of having to reallocate funds, which is 
always very difficult to do, if not maybe improper, and I’ve told my staff, not only Mary, 
but also Larry here, that my goal is to get every one of those projects done.  It was 
promised to the voters in the bond program, and my goal is to go back and look at every 
one of those remaining projects; determine what the scope ought to be, if it can be 
scaled back in any way without losing the substance; look for other funding sources to 
be able to support the projects.  By the way, when you talk about other funding sources, 
there is something very significant to mention here.  Thanks to the fact that we have a 
bond program, we have been able to leverage funding from other sources that, in 
essence, almost doubles the amount of money available to us through the bond 
program.  Between the County’s GOB and other funding sources, we have leveraged 
maybe an additional $210 million, so the fact that we had a bond program made it 
attractive for us to be able to bring in dollars from other funding sources, augmenting the 
ability of our program to do projects, so we have that plus the fact that, in talking to 
Larry, I said, Larry, if at the end we’re short $20 million and we have tapped every other 
funding source available, can we do a bond program?  Can we do a non-ad valorem 
bond?  And the answer is yes, so I’m going to move forward with the idea that we’re 
going to do every project that we have in that program, and when I talk about looking at 
maybe scaling back, I’ll give you an example of one item.  There’s an item in every 
district under the name of gateways, and shows $800,000 per district for gateways.  If I 
ask what is a gateway, people have different ideas.  I think that we can do decent 
gateways in the City without spending that kind of money.  We don’t want to hurt any 
project.  My goal is to get everything done.  That has to be the plan.  Something that is 
important to mention, in looking at the overall program and looking at the flaws, on the 
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one hand, I have to recognize the fact that the City was very smart in putting it out early.  
The downside of that is not having enough advance work to be able to have the 
estimates closer to reality, to have projects more properly developed.  In looking ahead 
to the street bond program that we have coming up, what we’re trying to do there is look 
at the projects that we have already completed designs on and actually be able to, 
hopefully, move those projects even through a bid process before we actually get the 
bond dollars in so we have a good idea as to what the projects are going to be costing 
us even before we sell the bonds.  The biggest flaw that I’ve seen in looking at the 
program is that as the City went through projects that were increasing in scope or 
affected by the escalating cost of construction, they didn’t go to the Board at the 
appropriate time, project by project, and say, Bond Oversight Board, on project “X,” it 
was conceptually estimated at a million dollars, so we went to the Commissioner; the 
Commissioner had a town hall meeting; we went to the town hall meeting.  The people 
said that’s nice, but to do it right for the community, you have to do this, or add this or 
that.  You come back and you end up with a project that now is $2.5 million.  At that 
time, we need to go back to the Board and say, Bond Oversight Board, we have this 
project; initially, it was this much; scope was like this.  We went through a public 
process.  The people told us they want the project in this fashion.  It’s going to cost two 
and a half times as much, and at that time, you have an opportunity to say to the 
Administration, well, I think it's justified; go ahead and do it.  The concern is, you know, 
keep track that now you are $1.5 million over.  Next time we come back, you start 
detecting patterns; that if you see that’s happening in two, three, four, or five projects, 
then you say where is this money going to come from?  But then you’re discussing it at a 
one, two project level without getting hit between the eyes with something like, oh, we 
have a 30, 40, $50 million shortage.  That’s where I see the biggest problem because I 
understand how the program got to where it got today, but I have to thank them because 
if they hadn’t done that effort that quickly at that time, we probably wouldn’t have today a 
bond program.  If they had waited in ’01 the time to do the master plan and the design, 
by the time they would have gotten it to the voters, the answer would have probably 
been no.  Who knows?  At this point, we’re behind the eight ball somewhat, and we have 
to face the reality that we have to make these adjustments, but understanding the 
difficulty, my commitment to you is that we’ll look for other funding to leverage; we’ll look 
for ways to value engineer the projects, and I’m going to look for other funding 
commitments, bonding of non-ad valorem, if we can, to get the projects done because 
that’s our promise, and that’s what I wanted to convey to you, and I thank you for your 
patience in allowing me to be late. 
 
Hattie Willis:  Mr. Manager, I would just like to say a couple of words.  What Bob said 
was wonderful, and I respect what he said, and he's absolutely right about we know that 
business is not usual at the City of Miami, but because of the business that was usual at 
the City of Miami -- we've come a long way, but we yet still have a long way to go, and 
there’s certain things that need to be implemented and put in place because the way I 
look at it is our house was built on sand.  It wasn’t built on a rock.  For 30 years, it was 
sitting on sand, so it was falling apart, and now we have a new day.  We have a new 
manager; we have a new committee.  We have new everything, but some things we all 
are learning because everything is new, and when things are new, some things you 
don’t get the full effect of what is going to be the problem until you start doing it.  What 
I’m saying is there are still some flaws in the way we are doing things, and one of the 
things that we talked about in this committee and one of the things that we need you to 
be fully aware of -- and we have no answers -- is our tracking system.  One of the big 
issues I had with -- when they said we were going to reallocate dollars -- and I want you 
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to understand perfectly clear what I’m saying.  I have no problem with the reallocation of 
any dollars, as long as the dollars are being reallocated into my district.  I don’t want 
them to be reallocated out of my district into another district, and my reason for that is 
because in my district, which is one of the poorest districts -- Any time I call downtown 
staff says squeaking doors get oiled, and we don’t have enough staff to do what we 
need to do, so the reality is that what gets done is if you make a telephone call and you 
say let's get this done right now or one of us from the community calls and pitches a fit 
and then something is directed at that, and I call that being reactive instead of proactive, 
and that annoys me in any facet of business.  You need to be proactive instead of 
reactive.  Now I believe all these wonderful things that we’re saying that we can do can 
be done, but I think the staff needs some help, and maybe they’re just too frightened to 
walk up and ask you because they’re thinking that if they do, maybe you will tell them 
that they won’t have their job.  I’m just making jokes, but I’m just saying they’re not telling 
you the truth, so I’m telling you the truth.  When it first was said to me we’re going to 
reallocate these funds, this is how I felt about it.  Who is going to watch the project that 
we took the money from to make sure that it stays on track in order for it to be done in a 
timely fashion just like all of the other projects that were going to be done because we're 
reallocating the money?  Who's going to watch the money from staff to make sure that 
the money gets back to the original project?  Who’s going to make sure that the project 
that the money is being allocated to is done on time and completed?  Who is going to 
pick the next set of projects?  Who’s going to make sure that every community gets their 
equal share?  If the project is being put on hold, what is the timeline going to be for you 
to come back and revisit the project?  I think that it needs to be somebody tracking that.  
Another problem I see is we spend an astronomical amount of money on consultants.  
What are these people doing, and why are we giving them all of our money?  Who’s 
watching that and making sure that they’re doing what they’re supposed to be doing?  
Who’s watching the watchers?  Now are we going to make sure that we go back to the 
drawing board and doing everything right from this point forward?  How are you going to 
set that up, and can you come back to us on another time, after you’ve sat down with 
you staff and decided how you’re going to do this, and let us be aware of it? 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  You’re totally right that it’s most important to have a tracking system 
that is up-to-date, and that we can share with the Board, and I have total confidence in 
Mary Conway in performing the necessary oversight over the consultant and our staff in 
making sure that this is done right, but I think that we need to have the tracking and 
share it with you at every one of your meetings as to what we have done.  As far as the 
consultants, we couldn’t be where we are today without the consultant force that we 
have.  The same way that the City was fortunate in getting the bond program approved, 
the City, at that time, was in no position to handle the number of projects that suddenly it 
had on its lap.  We had to bring in enough consultant support to be able to start 
organizing a mechanism to do all these projects, and we constantly check the amount of 
support that we get so we can cut back and tailor it to the need that we have, and that’s 
an exercise that we're doing right now looking at phase II of the Homeland Defense 
program, looking at the streets bond program.  Definitely, we don’t have the ability in 
staff to handle it all.  For now, we need a certain resource off consultants, and through 
Mary, I believe that we have the proper oversight as to what they do and what their 
mission is. 
 
Mary Conway:  And we have been successful in bringing in some new staff members to 
the Capital Improvements office.  We just had a new assistant director start a few weeks 
ago, and a new director starts on Monday, and we’re hopeful that we’ll continue to bring 
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on additional staff members, and as we do, transition down our reliance on consultants, 
but we’ll always have a level of consultant support when we’re at $100 million a year 
program. 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  And I have to tell you that, at the beginning, it was difficult for me 
because I was not familiar with the faces, what they were doing, and so forth, but by 
now, I am.  The folks that I see in this room are extremely hard-working individuals that 
dedicate a lot of their time, and they’re passionate as to what they do. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  What I’m going to do is go around the table counterclockwise so 
that everybody gets a chance to ask their questions.   
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  Thank you, Mr. Manager, for coming.  I don’t know if you 
watched the meeting.  I was real upset.  You just addressed one of my complaints.  One 
of the quarrels that I have is we voted as a board on what was presented to us, and in 
every single meeting, I would ask, are we within budget?  And we thought all the 
budgets had been updated, and I don’t think it’s best practice not to come with a budget 
that has been updated.  I think that now we are in this predicament and the only thing we 
can do is just take a step ahead and try to fix whatever has been done, and I hope that 
this will be a great experience for future projects, future bond issuances, and future CIP 
projects.  Yesterday I spoke with Ms. Conway and Larry and I vented my frustration, and 
I don’t think that I have to repeat what I said, but the other question I have about this is 
now we are reallocating some funds, which I think is a good idea to reallocate funds on 
projects that haven’t been started yet into projects that are on the way so we can finish 
those projects and then start looking for funds to start the other projects, and then try to 
complete the whole list that we have here.  But my question is -- and it’s not directed to 
you.  It’s directed to Ms. Conway.  Are we now fully funded once we reallocate those 
funds?  Are you taking into consideration all the costs and hidden costs that could affect 
those projects? 
  
Ms. Conway:  Yes.  That’s really the purpose of the reallocation.  We now have design 
plans for projects that have taken into account public input, the actual conditions of the 
facilities at the parks, the type of programming, and what the real needs are so that the 
figures that we’ve brought before do include all of those factors, as well as contingencies 
because some of these projects will be in construction this year and next year, and they 
include escalation factors, so we have a level of comfort that all the projects that are 
being funded now are in that situation.  For anything that’s underway and that we’ve 
already started, the answer is yes.  For things that haven’t even been looked at, we will 
do that moving forward, the same way that we have for the streets projects. 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  For those projects that we have taken funds from that are not fully 
scoped out, my promise is to go back to every one of those projects and determine what 
we need to do with them because they got there in that list for some reason.  Once we 
determine what that proper scope ought to be, then we’ll develop a plan to get them 
done. 
 
Ms. Conway:  I think we need to restructure and have some discussions about how we 
want to bring items before the Board because, up to this point, we’ve brought them at 
design for approval to start design, at construction for approval to start construction, and 
then there’s been this six-month notice, but there hasn’t been a process in place where, 
if something’s changing, we just automatically calendar it to bring it back so that we have 
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more regular back and forth communication as projects are developing, and we can 
address that. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Give it to the Audit Committee.  In other words, let them chew it up 
first. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  That’ll be fine.  I know that you talk about consultants.  I think 
that we should use the industry standards to pay the consultants.  My concern is that we 
are paying more than what the industry standard is, and that’s not best practices, and 
what I want to see is that we use best practices.  I do understand that we need 
consultants.  I do understand that we cannot do everything in-house and we need to 
bring in people from the outside to help us.  My main concern is that whatever we do is 
crystal clear, transparent because just the slightest doubt that we are doing anything that 
is not right, it will hurt the City of Miami’s future bond issues.   
 
Eileen Broton:  I have found that some of my frustration is it’s not always just the CIP 
issue that concerns us, and we’re under CIP and I know I can ask Zimri and Danette, 
and I know I can rely on Mary, but some of the questions go beyond their particular 
department.  A lot of our issues happens to be with Parks, and they don’t come to us 
and discuss anything, so I feel that I’m approving things or not approving things, and I 
feel that there’s a missing link.   
 
Mr. Hernandez:  I think that we have to sort of retrain our staff, other departments that 
when it's their project, they need to be there before your committee to support and 
answer questions on their project.  Parks should be here to explain to you why they're 
doing what they're doing, and maybe up until now they haven’t seen it that way.  They 
give it to CIP and let CIP run with it, but it's their project. 
 
Ms. Conway:  In fairness, I do have to mention that we do have Ed Blanco here. 
 
Ms. Broton:  Ed always brought us pictures to show us the before and the after, but a lot 
of decisions that are made about reallocating or what became important -- you know, Ed 
can’t necessarily answer.  There are a lot of administrative decisions that are being 
made that maybe the director or somebody higher would have to know. 
 
Ms. Willis:  When I asked the Parks director what is your responsibility when these 
decisions are made, he said to me that they were made by Mary, and I said who could 
they all be made by her because it’s parks.  Mary’s making the money decisions, but the 
Parks director should be making the parks decisions because he’s the director of the 
Parks Department. 
 
Jose Solares:  I’m the new kid on the block.  From the first day I came here, I’ve been 
asking certain things.  Number one is accountability.  Who is held accountable for the 
mistakes that are made?  For example, the Coral Way lighting project.  That’s a joke, 
really, when you look at it. 
 
Rolando Aedo:  The lights are working now, by the way. 
 
Ms. Conway:  And we’re also pursuing warranty issues against the contractor. 
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Mr. Solares:  My question was are we getting the right price for the consultants we have, 
not the product.  I don’t see that there’s any kind of cost control within the City.  The City 
is doing excellent, but I’m not going to be here just to rubberstamp.  I’m opposed on 
thinking, well, we're going to get other funding sources.  I think our job is to see what can 
we do to meet the requirements without having to go ask for more money.  Do we have 
the right checks and balances?  I don’t’ think we do. 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  Obviously, we have to be before your board on a monthly basis and be 
clear on what the potential changes are so you can work with us in determining which 
direction to go.  We can offer a recommendation, but we need to hear back from you too.  
I think that Mary and the consultants are also listening, and we have to pay a lot of 
attention to cost control.  We need to look at the projects and be sure that we bring the 
projects in at the budgeted amount or below, if we can, and that should be our first goal 
in trying to look for additional monies to do the minor projects.  In essence, I think that, 
through the first phase, we are handling the majority of the most significant projects.   
 
Mr. Solares:  Another thing is the JOC versus the bidding process.  I’m really ashamed 
of having to listen to the staff saying that it could take them six months to get the bidding 
package together to put a job out for bid.  It’s sad because I know it’s putting the 
pressure on the existing staff.   
 
Mr. Hernandez:  I like to have in my toolbox all these different means of getting things 
done, whether it’s JOC or whether it’s a miscellaneous contract, or whether it’s a low bid, 
and then use them appropriately, depending on the project.  We need to be able to 
accelerate it and expedite it as much as we can. 
 
Mariano Cruz:  I have a few suggestions.  Pedro talked about the town hall meetings 
with the neighborhoods to say what they want.  That’s good for the sophisticated 
neighborhoods, Coconut Grove, Upper Eastside, but Allapattah, the people have two or 
three jobs to make a living to pay the rent.  You know what happen in Allapattah?  I live 
on Northwest 26th Street.  That’s considered east Allapattah.  There hasn’t been one 
street fixed there, resurfaced, nothing since 1977 around there, and the last one was 
part of 28th Street with Community Development money because I was on the board of 
Community Development.  That was the only thing.  How come the City don’t fix the 
streets in Allapattah?  I mentioned it before in the meeting, and I’m glad that the 
Manager is here because I’m telling him.  The only street fixed is Northwest 26th Street, 
my street, because we, the neighbors, came here and signed for the capital 
improvement, and they taxed us for years and years.  We paid for our street, the whole 
thing.  That’s the only street that’s been fixed there, and you can go there and check it. 
Also, the other day, I was listening to the radio, and it was mentioned that the City is 
giving these people money for the park museum for consultants.  People listen to that 
and they don’t know any better.  The bond issue was $255 million, mostly to fix the 
neighborhood.  There was nothing there for a museum there. 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  In reference to the museums, I understand that the Homeland Defense 
Bond program has two line items for the museums, $3.5 million for each. 
 
Ms. Conway:  That’s correct. 
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Chairman Flanders:  I think that your first point is a very good point, and I think that the 
City is actually ahead of your thought process.  I understand that street bonds are 
coming out to address exactly what you’re talking about. 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  Irrespective of whether it’s the Museum of Art Homeland Defense 
contribution or whether we’re dealing with the gateways, I think that you have to look at 
them with the same scrutiny in reference to the value of the project.  When you look at 
the museum project, we want to be sure that the project is a valid project that is properly 
managed, and that our contribution will go towards something beneficial in that project. 
  
Luis De Rosa:  City Manager, thank you for coming down.  I think it’s important that the 
lines of communication remain open.  I have pet project, which is the Roberto Clemente 
Park, which is in District 2, and I’ve been fighting for some time about this.  I think that 
the issue of communication is at the heart of what everyone has been saying, and 
especially in my case, because I was so misinformed, even if it was not intentional.  I 
mentioned to the Board that we had to cancel the game between the Miami police and 
the Chicago police because of the condition of the park, but now we’re back on track 
with the L.A. police.  L.A. is coming with close to 50 people, but we can’t play at the park.  
We have to play the game at Flamingo because of the park is in bad condition. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  A newsletter needs to be produced to show what is happening with 
bond projects. 
 
Laurinus Pierre:  I don’t need to repeat some of the concerns that everybody has here.  
How do you ensure that the districts are not losing money when it is reallocated?  The 
community is concerned about this. 
 
Mr. Hernandez:  I would like to be able to have our people get more into the community 
at the right points to be able to disseminate information to inform the community.  I think 
it’s important that we go into the different neighborhoods and take advantage of 
opportunities to address the people; to have the newsletter in Creole, Spanish, and 
English and do the distribution according to the area. 
 
Mr. Pierre:  It’s not only passing out the information.  It’s also having a process that is 
fairly implemented. 
 
Ms. Conway:  I can assure you that the Capital Plan gets updated on an annual basis, 
and your district Commissioners track the projects that are in their districts very closely, 
and Pilar, in Capital Improvements, and her team, along with the City Manager, also 
track the allocations of dollars to projects, and if the allocations are changed, then things 
shift, so we do have databases and mechanisms in place that we do track all the 
projects and changes to projects. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  We’re going to lose quorum soon.  Rolando, I don’t want to 
shortchange you, but we’ve literally run out of time. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  That’s fine.  I won’t repeat what my colleagues on the Board have said.  For 
the most part, I do feel good about the process.  I will showcase three or four quick 
instances of when I haven’t felt as proud about being part of this Board or the process, 
and the first time came at the quick realization that this bond issue wasn’t too much 
about homeland defense, and I felt that, while it was very strategic -- and I commend the 
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marketing positioning of it -- I think that that transparency wasn’t there, so I will tell you  
candidly and openly that that tainted my pride of being part of a process that I won’t call 
it being hoodwinked, but I can definitely tell you that there was some creative license 
taken to that, so that would be one.  The second slight disappointment in the process -- 
and hopefully, this is something that can still be addressed -- was that this committee, as 
important as it is, has no teeth.  Regardless of how strongly we feel, we are an advisory 
committee by statute, and at the end of the day, we really don’t have the power to 
override something, and at times, even the folks appointing us perhaps don’t give us full 
credit, so that’s another issue.  The other thing that pained me was when we canceled 
projects, and thankfully, it was a small percentage.   
 
Mr. Hernandez:  Teeth or no teeth, I think the key word is respect, and the staff and 
consultants that are listening to me now, the word is respect to you, as a board, to the 
process, and my commitment is for the Administration itself to have that kind of respect 
to you, to your recommendations.  We may not agree 100 percent on everything 
because it will not happen, but we need to have the respect to keep you informed, to 
bring things to you to share, and if we do that, I think that we can work well. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Fair enough.  Thank you. 
 
David Kubiliun:  All I’d like to say is the key to success in any organization is 
communication, and I think that what we’ve accomplished here tonight was quite 
informative, and I just welcome the opportunity to meet again. 
 
Ms. Willis:  Our board in general -- I was under the impression, but I need for us to get a 
copy of the bylaws of how it was written that if there’s any changes made or 
recommendations, that we’re the ones that are supposed to make them, to give the 
recommendations for the changes before they go to the Commissioners. 
 
Mr. Aedo:  That’s what I was saying.  That really is not the case. 
 
Ms. Willis:  So we didn’t have that?  That is not in the bylaws? 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  No. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  But this tracking mechanism is very important.  I took notes, 
everybody.  We have it on tape, but I took notes, and I will take everything that you said, 
distill it, and make the bullet points. 
 
Ms. Willis:  And one last thing.  When you first came and they put you out to dry, you 
came to our Little Haiti meeting, and you stood there, and everybody smiled and made 
nice and said we’re going to get everything we want, and we had a building, and all of a 
sudden, the building disappeared.  I don’t know if you know that or not, and one of the 
things I’m saying is, we should never disappear again any project.  If it says it’s in the 
project in the beginning that it should be there, I think that it should come back before us 
before anybody decides that they’re going to disappear anything, but now it’s 
reappeared.  We got a new magician, but I just wanted you to be aware that that took 
place. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I want to make a motion. 
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Chairman Flanders:  You can’t because Commissioner González made a change to 
what you have. 
 
Pilar Saenz:  All the Commissioners had a chance to have input, and today, we met with 
Commissioner González.  On District 1, the Sewell Park dollars are being reallocated, as 
well as the $800,000 for gateways.  It’ll be 750,000 instead of 800,000, so those two 
totaled is $1,028,257, which will be allocated to the Grapeland community building. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I’m going to make a motion that we reconsider and accept the 
Manager’s recommended reallocations. 
 
Mr. De Rosa:  Second. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Manolo has made a motion.  We have a second from Luis De 
Rosa.  Is there any further discussion? 
 
Mr. Aedo:  Friendly amendment.  Pursuant to the City Manager’s personal commitment 
to honor the completion of all projects that were approved by the voters. 
 
Vice Chairman Reyes:  I accept that amendment, and I strongly support it. 
 
Mr. De Rosa:  I second it. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  OK.  We have an amended motion, an amended second.  Any 
further discussion?  All in favor? 
 
The Board Members (Collectively):  Aye. 
 
Chairman Flanders:  Anyone opposed?  Motion carries. 
 
HD/NIB MOTION 07-11 
 
A MOTION WAS MADE TO ACCEPT STAFF’S RECOMMENDATIONS AS 
PRESENTED REGARDING THE HOMELAND DEFENSE NEIGHBORHOOD 
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM REALLOCATIONS, PURSUANT TO THE CITY 
MANAGER’S PERSONAL COMMITMENT TO HONOR THE COMPLETION OF ALL 
PROJECTS THAT WERE PREVIOUSLY APPROVED BY THE VOTERS. 
 
MOVED: M. Reyes 
SECONDED:  L. De Rosa 
ABSENT: L. Cabrera, R. De La Cabada, G. Reshefsky, J. Reyes 
 
Note for the Record:  Motion passed by unanimous vote of all Board Members 
present. 
 

II. CHAIRPERSON’S OPEN AGENDA: 
  
 
III. ADDITIONAL ITEMS: 
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